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INTRODUCTION.

HE first volume of “ The Pioneer Priests of North
America " contains the biographies of the eighteen
priests who labored among the Iroquois Indians in what is
now the State of New York. The present one concerns
itself with the lives of the chief apostles of the Hurons.
The period of time covered in this narrative is more
restricted than the other, but is more tragic in its character,
and is filled from beginning to end with deeds of more than
usually heroic self-immolation. It is the history of de
Brébeuf and his associates
A year after Champlain had built his huts at Quebec,
namely in 1609, a tribe from what was then the far North-
west, came down the river with their peltries. They were
Wendots or Wyandots, but the I'rench called them Hurons,
because of the irregular tufts of hair which the savages
cultivated on their half-shaven heads. To the imaginative
Frenchman the decoration seemed like la hure or bristles on
the back of an angry boar.  “ Quelle hure!” they ex-
claimed ; “ What a shock of bristles! ™ From that the name
Huron was evolved. The derivation seems fanciful, but
is commonly admitted to be correct. The Dutch historian,
Vandendonck, however, classified these new arrivals as The
French Savages or Rondaxes; but Rondaxes is merely a
corruption of Adirondacks; the only Indians ever called the
French Savages. Colden, for no reason that he assigns,
designates them as Quantoghies; while Lahontan, who is
famous for his misstatements, describes them as Nadoueks,
which is the Algonquin name for Iroquois.
These Wyandots or Hurons were, like the other savage
nations, divided into various clans or families, such as The
Jears, The Rocks, The Cords, etc. They were the parent
stock of the five Iroquois Nations, and were relatives of the
xiii




INTRODUCTION.

Petuns and Neutrals, who were their immediate neighbors
near Lake Muron. They were also connected by blood with
the Andastes or Susquehannas of Pennsylvania.  Their
country was 800 or 900 miles away from Quebec, near the
great lake which now bears their name, but which they
called Attigouantan. Roughly speaking, it was the terri-
tory at the head of Georgian Bay, with Lake Simcoe on the
east, the Severn River and Matchedash Bay on the north,
Nottawasaga Bay on the west, and was separated from the
Neutrals on the south by what would be a line drawn from
the present town of Collingwood over to ilawkstone on
Lake Simcoe. The train from Toronto north to Midland
and Penetanguishene runs through the old habitat of the
Hurons.

The most reliable information we have about these In-
dians is to be found in the * Relations " of the missionaries,
notably those of de Brébeuf, Jerome Lalemant and Bressani.
The Recollects who first visited them remained only a short
time, and it is difficult to accept Friar Sagard's account
without reserve, as he could not possibly have known their
language. Champlain passed a winter among them after
his defeat in Western New York, and has left us a record
of what he saw. They were selected as the most likely to
be influenced by the teaching of the Gospel, because of their
remoteness from the whites, and because also like their
kinsmen, the Iroquois, though continually at war, they were
settled in well protected villages.

Champlain first asked the Jesuits to undertake the work
of their conversion, hut as the troubles in Acadia were about
at their height, it was deemed unwise to enter upon an
additional struggle with the Calvinist merchants who then
controlled Quebec. In consequence of this refusal, the
Recollects were invited, and in 1615, Father Le Caron was
at Carhouaga, near Thunder Bay, but in 1616 he returned
to France and did not resume his work among the Hurons
until 1623, when he again took up his abode there with

Xiv




INTRODUCTION.

Father Viel and the lay-brother Sagard. In the following
year, he and Sagard withdrew, and Viel was left alone.

Despairing of success with either red or white men,
on account of the opposition of the French traders, the
Recollects entreated the Jesuits to come to their aid. This
time the invitation was accepted, and Fathers. de Brébeuf
and de Noiie immediately left France with the Recollect
d’Aillon, and after much difficulty reached the Huron coun-
try in 1625; but d’Aillon and de Notie soon withdrew,
leaving de Brébeuf alone. The Recollect Viel had before
that, attempted to go down to Quebec but lost his life on
the Riviére des Prairies, at a place known as Sault au Recol-
let. Finally, in 1629, de Brébeuf was compelled to give
up the work, as the English were then in possession of
Quebec.

Canada again became French territory in 1632; and in
1634, de Brébeuf, Davost and Daniel forced themselves on
the unwilling savages who had again come down to Quebec
to trade, and after much suffering reached the Huron
country.  They were joined by Le Mercier and Pierre
Pijart in 1635, and in the following year, by Jogues, Garnier
and Chastellain. ’aul Ragueneau arrived in 1637; and
Le Moyne and du Perron in 1638, Jerome Lalerhant, Chau-
monot, Poncet and Claude Pijart were on the list in 1639 ;
and Ménard in 1640. We find Garreau, Chabanel and
Jressani there in 1641, and in 1648, Gabriel Lalemant,
Jonin and Daran arrived just in time for the closing scenes
of the tragedy in which Lalemant was a conspicuous victim.

They were all wonderful men and necessarily so; for they
had to convert an entire people who were at that very
moment being rapidly exterminated by an implacable foe.
The time allotted by Divine Providence for this work was
exceedingly brief, for counting out the few years which
de Brébeuf spent in Huronia prior to the fall of Quebec in
1629, it began only in 1634, but it was not until 1639 that
the savages would even tolerate an allusion to Christianity,

XV




INTRODUCTION.

and before the end of 1650 the Hurons had vanished from
the earth as a distinct people. Nevertheless, in those ten
years, results were achieved which have scarcely a parallel
in missionary annals. Thousands of these Hurons became
excellent Christians, and not a few were distinguished by
lives of exalted virtue. It is true that it was at the cost
of awful sufferings and the sacrifice of the lives of many of
the missionaries, but de Brébeuf and his companions brought
a holy and pertinacious fierceness into the fight and made
light of death if they won even a few souls. After the
destruction of the Hurons some of the missionaries went
down among the Iroquois. Chaumonot, Le Moyne,
Ragueneau, Poncet and Bressani labored both in Canada
and in New York; and Jogues himself first began with the
Hurons.  Their stories have been told in the first volume.

We have prefixed to the present work an account of the
early Acadian mission; for the reason that it was the first
effort made in the evangelization of New France, and also
because Father Massé, who had been in Acadia, kept alive
the enthusiasm for the Canadian missions when he returned
to IFrance, and was the first to volunteer when the Recollects
appealed for help. He was for a time superior of the only
missionary who was left among the Hurons, and he hastened
back to America when the French resumed control of
the country.  Biard, his companion in Acadia, would doubt-
less have gone with him had he not been summoned to his
reward four years before the Jesuits undertook the work.

It may not be out of place to say that daily access to the
valuable archives of St. Mary's College, Montreal, and the
counsel of the Rev. Arthur E. Jones, who is among the
foremost authorities in all matters relating to Huronia, have
made the preparation of this volume a comparatively easy
task.

xvi
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CHAPTER 1.

ABLISHHMENT OF ACADIA,

Tllli “ Jesuit  Relations,” as we now have them,
are merely the summaries or digests of the various
letters sent by the missionaries to their superior at Quebec,
who forwarded them to Paris where they were published
annually in forty consecutive volumes from 1632 to 1672,
As they appear in their modern re-prints they are usually
preceded by two other documents, one a letter, dated 1626,
from Charles Lalemant to his brother Jerome, and another a
treatise or an elaborate account of the work done in Acadia
sixteen years before that time. The latter was written by
Father Biard, and is an answer to an accusation which was
then current in France that the Jesuits were traitors to their
country and religion, and in collusion with the English
pirates who destroyed the colonies of Port Royal and St.
Sauveur. This charge was formulated in a book known as
the “ Facts of the Case between M. ]J. de Biencourt and
Fathers Massé and Biard,” and was supposed to have been
written by Lescarbot, who was the devoted friend of the
Biencourts and had lived a short time in Acadia.

One of the good results of the accusation was that its
refutation has supplied us with very valuable ethnological
and historical data about Acadia, which otherwise might
not have been forthcoming: and has given us a story of
wanderings by sea and land that reads like an Odyssey.

Biard begins by telling us why the name of New France
was given to the recently acquired territory,  The first
reason is hecause there was no land between it and the old
country : a view, more patriotic than convineing. The second
is hardly more satisfactory, namely that the Bretons and
Normans had been in the habit of visiting those parts a
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PIONEER PRIESTS OF NORTH AMERICA.

hundred years or more for fishing purposes, and used to
bring back an occasional Indian to exhibit him in St. Malo
and elsewhere.  The third is the only valid one, viz: that
Verazzano, in the employ of Francis I, gave the name to
the entire territory north of 40° latitude. \What was known
as Canada *was only part of the acquisition, and was
restricted to that portion of it which lay along the St.
Lawrence. Acadia, or the land of the Souriquois, adjoined
it on the south; while further south still, beyond the Baie
I'rancaise or Bay of undy was Norumbega.”

\fter the expeditions of Roberval and the Marquis de la
Roche had failed, Pierre du Gast, the Sieur de Monts, having
acquired an ample fortune, associated with himself some
merchants of Rotien, St. Malo and Rochelle, and received
from ** the incomparable Henry IV,” as Biard styles him, a
grant of land from the 40° to 46° north latitude, besides
trading privileges as far as the 54°.  Its eastern boundary
was the Atlantic, and its western the China Sea or Pacific.
De Monts left France in 1604, coasted along the shore of
Norumbega, settled for a while on Ste. Croix Island, and
finally chose for the central seat of the colony the Harbor
of Port Royal, or what is now Annapolis, in Nova Scotia.

Champlain, who was with the expedition, was strongly
opposed to the entire scheme: first, because the place was
too near the English settlements and consequently in con-
stant danger of attack: and secondly, because the settlers
were half Calvinist and half Catholic. He foresaw the
strife that would ensue, and he sadly notes in his “Voyages”
that the parson and the priest on board of his vessel not
only spent their time in religious controversy, but came to
blows on the deck to the great amusement of the crew.

Both of these tempestuous evangelists died shortly after

landing, and the sailors buried them side by side, hoping that

there at least they might be at peace. The chaplain on

Pontgravé’s ship was a priest from Paris named Aubrey,

who succeeded in losing himself for three weeks in the
4




PETER BIARD.

woods, where he nearly perished. Nothing else is recorded
of him.  Two years of misery followed, and the associ-
ated merchants, finding that they were getting nothing for
their money but maps of rivers and bays, refused any further
advances. Du Gast therefore, abandoned the enterprise,
without however, relinquishing his charter. He made over
the Seigneurie of Port Royal to Jean de Biencourt, com
monly known as Potrincourt or Poutrincourt, and retained
the rest as his own.

After this brief historical review, Biard then addresses
himself to what he calls the horoscope et geniture de ces
terres, namely the astronomical location, the temperature,
the seasons, and the characteristics of the people. Tt will
not be necessary to follow him in all these details which
are very discursive and often speculative, but it will suffice
for our present purpose to select a few of the traits which
differentiate the Micmac or Souriquois Indians from the
other red men of the country.

“In spite of the scurvy and bitter cold,” he says, * the
place is healthy, if one does not coop himself up in his
cabin, but keeps his blood in circulation by hunting and
fishing. There is nothing to be feared from the Indians,
for the only unfriendly ones are those north of the Gulf of
St. Lawrence.” He called them Zvcommuniquois, which
is about the nearest he could come to their name, and which
he, no doubt, thought properly described them, though he
blames the immorality of the Basque sailors in those parts
for having made them bad. The Montagnais, the Souri
quois, and the Etchemins were all friendly. The Acadians
or Souriquois he found to be a light-hearted, intelligent
race, with a good memory for things that they could see
and touch, but absolutely helpless when there was question
of keeping any formula of words in their head. They
regarded the French as very ugly, chiefly because of the hair
around the lips, but little by little they got used to that
ornament. They were all decently clad in winter, though

]




PIONEER PRIESTS OF NORTH AMERICA.

in summer the men's wardrobe was reduced to a breech-
clout.

They were smaller than the French, well built, “ pretty
much,” says Biard, *“as we should have been, had we all
remained twenty-five years old.” There are no fat men
among them, no hunchbacks ; no cripples or deformed crea-
tures; none with gout, or stone or the like; no lunatics;
none with a single eye or a squint, and they are much amused
at any of the French who are unfortunate in these respects.
On the whole they have a very poor idea of the Europeans,
and consider themselves a superior race.” Thus, for in-
stance, one of these distinguished sons of the forest, hearing
that the King of France was looking for a wife, offered his
daughter, but on condition that His Majesty should give
in return for the maiden several barrels of bread and beans,
a supply of hats, harpoons and the like.

They were nomads and hunters, and divided their year
of thirteen moons into the periods which determined their
pursuit of the different kinds of game.  They ate what they
caught and then starved until something else came their
way. \When the ice broke up they were most of the time in

their light canoes, which we are assured would make thirty
or forty leagues a day. Rarely living together in any great
number, there was no system of laws to regulate their con-
duct.  Their chiefs were called Sagamos, and were mostly
heads of families, who guided the activities of their
various descendants.  Like all Indians they were fond
of visiting each other, chiefly because of the feasts, which
were customary on such occasions. They were always at war,
or at least deliberating about it.  But Charlevoix says that
before deciding they used to fight with their wives, 1f the
squaws got the best of the battle, it was a good omen; if
the men prevailed, it was the reverse. The logic of such
reasoning is not apparent, but that was unimportant.  Their
tactics were the usual trickery and stealthiness of the savage,
viz: lying in ambush or creeping up on their foes. In Biard's
6
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opinion they were miserable cowards in a regular battle,
while in their personal quarrels two men would fight all
day without much damage to either except in breath and
perspiration, *“ pulling each other’s hair,” he says, * like
women in France.”

Their marriages were generally by purchase, and the
squaw then began her drudgery. Polygamy prevailed and
with it gross immorality, but there was a certain amount of
external decorum. Indeed they were better behaved in
that respect than the French. Adultery was punishable by
death, but loss of virtue in a maid did not affect her matri-
monial availability, though it was a blot on her record.
The children were few, the suffering and misery of the
squaws affording a sufficient explanation of that condition
of things. According to the writer the Souriquois did not
exceed 3,500, the Eteminquois, who were in the Penobscot
region, were no more than 2,500; another 3,000 might be
found from there to the Kennebee and Chouacouet, while
there were only about 1,000 Montagnais in all. In brief
only about 10,000 aborigines were to be found in those parts,

They had no handicraft whatever, and were intellectually
dense. Their pharmacopoeia was reduced to sweat baths,
and unctions of fish oil; but the latter we are told was a
specific against mosquitoes, and also helped the savage to
bear the extremes of heat and cold. Besides it made their
hair slip easily through the tangled brushwood, and
triumphantly shed the rain.  They used tobacco against
hunger, and to get it would sell their shirts. All their en-
tertainments and business meetings were helped out by pro-
tracted use of the pipe.

Their medical practice was mostly jugglery. When an In-
dian was very far gone, he stretched out at full length near
the fire, and then, by common consent, he was sick. They
offered him everything they were eating, whether roast or
hoiled, and usually dragged it through the ashes to present
it to him. If he refused it, they called in the sorcerer.
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That functionary examined the patient and then began to
blow on him. If, after some days, this pneumatic treatment
was ineffective, he was pronounced to have the devil inside
of him, and the spirit had to be driven out and killed.
Then all prepared to slay Beelzebub, but were warned to be
on their guard lest he might jump into and strangle
them. A three hours’ comedy then began in which each one
had his part to play.

The juggler established himself in a deep hole, at the
bottom of which he tied a rope around a peg.  Singing,
screaming and dancing they crowded around the patient who
was placed close to the hole, the physician meantime waving
a naked sword till he was all in a sweat and foaming at the
mouth like a hard driven horse, and howling meantime like
a demon to warn the people to look out for the evil spirit.
He sees him in the pit writhing in anger and ready to
spring out and eat them.  Every one is pale with fear,
until at least the braves take hold of the cord to drag Satan
out. They pull and pull, but the sorcerer had taken good
care to make it fast.  \While they are tugging he is vocifera-
ting over the hole and pretending to make lunges against
the evil spirit.  Finally he descends into the pit, and lo! the
rope yields, and out it comes with hits of bones and shreds
of fish attached to it. ** Victory! the devil is dead. You
will cure the sick man.”

Then the sufferer is examined to see if the demon has hurt
him in the exit. To find that out the physician must sleep
and dream, which gives the patient a good chance to get
worse.  After that he pronounces the verdict.  Possibly he
will say: * You will die in three days.” Whereupon the
sick man proceeds to help out his medical adviser by refusing
all food. If at the end of three days, life still persists in the
victim, the devil is accused of interfering, and consequently
pots of cold water are poured on the patient’s stomach till
he expires. If you expostulate they will tell you that such
is their national method of medical treatment. LEven after
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all this, the French have sometimes succeeded in rescuing
the victims and restoring them to health, though the pious
Biard says it was by the grace of God.  Among those who
were rescued were the two Sagamos, Membertou and his
son, a result which redounded very much to the discredit
of the native doctors, who, however, whether they succeeded
or not, always had the privilege of receiving numerous
presents and were exempted from giving anything in return.
They were thus a favored class and grew unavoidably
rich.

Resuming his narrative, Biard tells us that when the doom
of the sick man was pronounced, all his friends and relations
gathered around and he made his own funeral oration. He
related his exploits; extolled his family; gave his instruc-
tions and bade everyone farewell. e made no gifts but
called for a general smoke. The pipe was lighted and all
gave presents to their departing friend; arrows, skins, dogs,
etc. They killed the dogs, however, and made a funeral
banquet of them. \When the feast was over the mourners
began their harangues: They were sorry to lose him, but

he was leaving good sons behind who would grow up fine
hunters, and he was bidding good bye to admiring friends
who would avenge the wrongs done to him.  Finally,
when the poor wretch breathed his last, they set up a howl,
and if he was a man of importance they continued at it night
and day for a week, provided they had enough to eat. If
the food gave out, they buried the body straightway and
adjourned the banquet to another occasion.

For the funeral, the afflicted relatives painted their faces
black, but occasionally enlivened the gloom of their aspect
by a dash of color. They wrapped the corpse in skins,
and tied up the knees against the stomach.  The grave
was shallow, with the dead man's head almost on a level with
the ground, but a mound was made above it by means of
sticks.  If the defunct was a chief they built a pyramid over
him. Bows, arrows and shields marked the resting place
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of the men; spoons or some feminine adornments indicated
that a weary squaw had ceased from her labors.  In the
grave, skins, hatchets and sometimes the uneaten dogs were
thrown. Finally, when the obsequies were over, all shunned
the place, and banished every remembrance of the departed
from their minds. I they had to speak of him, they called
him by another name.

“ Their religion is nothing but sorcery,” continues Diard.
“They offer sacrifices to the devil for good luck in fighting
or hunting, and are firm believers in dreams. The magicians
are said to evoke ghosts, but we never saw any. Diabolical
possession was alleged to have been common before we
came, and old Membertou averred that his Satanic Majesty
often appeared to him, but, as something wicked was always
enjoined in such interviews, the chief grew suspicious and
stopped conjuring.  They believed in God, but the divinity
as far as could be made out was the Sun. They had also
a confused idea of the immortality of the soul, and of the
recompense and punishment of the good and wicked. But
they were not much worried about the next world. Only
material affairs interested them.  Unlike many North
American tribes they did not eat human flesh.”

[t will be remembered that when Du Gast abandoned
Acadia, he made over the Seigneurie of Port Royal to his
friend Potrincourt who, to ensure the validity of the trans-
fer, applied in person to the King for the royal sanction.
The easy-going monarch saw no reason to refuse the request,

but intimated his desire to have the evangelization of the
natives confided to Jesuit missionaries. As the grantee,
however, though a Catholic, had imbibed many Calvinist
prejudices from his husiness friends, he regarded Jesuits
as ogres, and the royal suggestion made him uncomfortable.
But instead of bluntly telling the king his difficulties in the
matter, he determined to evade the command as best he
could. He began by dilatory tactics, and long after he was

thought to have set out for America he again appeared in
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Court. The king in anger ordered him to depart immedi-
ately, but in spite of that the whole winter was consumed
in preparations for the voyage. Evidently Henry IV was
not a despot.

A year before that, Fathers Biard and Massé¢ had been
ordered to repair to Bordeaux, so as to be ready to set sail
for America, but no one there knew of any vessel about
to leave: and although it was then near the close of 1608,
there had been no intelligence of the failure of de Monts
in Acadia.  There were no newspapers in those days.
Another year slipped by, and not till winter had set in did
Potrincourt receive his second order from the king. On
that occasion IFather Coton, who was the royal confessor,
heard the command, and made haste to ask about the mis-
sionaries, but Potrincourt put him off with the assurance

it it would be wise to wait another year, and, when at
e end of February, 1610, he set sail, there were no Jesuits
on board. In their stead, was a priest with the extraor-
dinary name of Joshua Flessché or Flesse, whose theologic:
knowledge was rather of the Old than of the New Testa-
ment.  Three weeks after his arrival he baptized a score of
Indians whom Potrincourt’s son, evidently at his father's
suggestion, had instructed. The poor savages, however,
knew nothing about what they were doing, were even
unable even to make the sign of the cross, and were left
undisturbed in their former habits of life. Thus one of
those distinguished neophytes pointed with pride to the eight
wives whom his curious Christian belief did not prevent
him from retaining.  Indeed, the prevalent impression
among them was that baptism was merely an initiation
ceremony which made them Normans. They called the
Reverend Joshua * Patriarch,” and adopted the name for
themselves: but when the news of the clergyman’s singular
performance reached France, his title did not prevent him
from being roundly scored by the Sorbonne and he was
recalled.

11




PIONEER PRIESTS OF NORTH AMERICA.

Notwithstanding the supplies brought by Potrincourt, the
colony soon lapsed into its condition of semi-starvation,
and it was thought advisable for young Biencourt to cross
the water. e left Port Royal at the end of July, 1610,
and an accident occurred at his departure which, because
it affected Potrincourt, nearly brought irreparable disaster
on the unfortunate settlers. It is not referred to in Biard's
rrative, but we find an account of it in a private letter
written to the i'rovincial in France,

\When Biencourt hoisted sail for Europe, his father and
the old Sagamo Membertou, accompanied him for some dis-

tance, each in a separate shallop or schooner-rigged long
boat.  They kept up with him as far as La Heve, and then
turned back.  After rounding Cape Sable, Potrincourt gave
the helm to one of his men and went to sleep, leaving orders
to keep in along the shore.  \When he awoke he was far out
at sea, and alone; for the wise old Indian in the other boat,
not knowing why his companion had changed his course, fol-
lowed his own counsels and reached home in safety. For six
weeks che shallop went up and down helplessly in all direc-
tions, 101 the poor craft was damaged on one side and could
not be kept close to the wind. Soon the provisions gave
out.  Fortunately, however, the men had shot some cor-
morants, but being in an open vessel it was impossible
to cook the game, and the prospects were that they shou'd
have to eat it raw. However, by means of a loose plank,
they succeeded in lighting a fire, which helped them to roast
the birds, at least to some extent.  They worried along
until they reached the Penobscot.  They felt safe then, for
from there to Port Royal was an easy sail.  Unfortunately,
however, they came near Port Royal during the night and
the men disagreed with the captain as to their whereabouts.
He vielded to them, and was soon far out in the ocean

again at the mercy of wind and waves. Meantime the col-
onists gave them up for lost, especially as old Membertou

assured them he had seen the missing boat put out to sea. A
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council was held, and the general verdict was that all ought
to return to France, as it was deemed impossible on account
of the prevailing winds for the boat ever to reach the shore.
While they were discussing the matter, Potrincourt, to their
great amazement and relief came into port.

The distress was great when Biencourt, who was expected
to arrive from France in November, failed to appear.
Christmas came and there was no sign of a ship. They
dragged wearily through the winter, as best they could.
Every one was on short allowance, though Potrincourt, not
to alienate the savages, kept lavishing his gifts on them.
Of course they enjoyed his generosity, but when asked why
they did not give something in return, as was the custom,
answered maliciously, * Potrincourt is too good to want our
peltries.”  However, they sent some fish and moose, from
time to time, and that helped a little. On top of all this
the millstream froze, and there was no means of making
flour, and for seven weeks peas and beans had to be sub-
stituted.  They succeeded in getting a fair supply of fish,
but the absence of bread so worried them that it was deter-
mined, in case the vessel did not arrive in May, to scour the
coast in order to find a vessel to take them, as Biard says,
“to the land of the wheat and the grape.” Potrincourt, how-
ever, succeeded in inducing them to wait till June. May
came, and the time had nearly expired. Still they waited,
but it was not until the 22d of May that Biencourt entered
Port Royal. He had a momentous tale to unfold.

Shortly before he arrived in France, Henry IV was
assassinated. In consequence, all interest in the distant
colony had declined, and Biencourt could find no one to
assist him but two Calvinist merchants who agreed to supply
him with a cargo.  Hearing of his arrival, the Queen
Mother, Marie de Medicis, sent orders to him to take back
with him to America the Jesuit missionaries who for more
than two years had been waiting to cross the ocean. That
angered the Calvinist merchants, who immediately cancelled
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their agreement. *“ Any other priests, yes; but Jesuits,
no.” For such representatives of the cloth they had what
Biard describes as *“ une antipathie insociable.”

Here enters the fairy god-mother in the person of the
Marquise de Guercheville, a great dame of the Court. In-
dignant that the orders both of the dead king and of the
queen regent should be flouted by two little shop-keepers,
she went around among her rich friends and begged enough
to buy out the entire cargo. She then made the two mis-
sionaries part owners, and ordered the vessel to hoist sail
and be off ; and at last, on the 21st of January, 1611, Biard
was able to write to the Father General Aquaviva: * Mid-
night has just struck; to-morrow at the point of day we set
sail.””  They did not sail however, until five days later.
Appropriately the ship was called The Grace of God; which
intimated what they were sorely in need of. The weather
was dirty; the ship was small and the voyage endless.

Father Biard, who was the chief figure in this missionary
expedition, was not an ordinary man.  He had been a pro-
fessor of scholastic and moral theology in various colleges
of France, and was revered for his exalted virtue. He was
born at Grenoble in 1567, and entered the Society in 1583,
The exact dates, however, are not known; some authorities
putting both seven years later. In either case he was some-
where among the forties when he started out for America.
Giving the Jesuits a share of the vessel's cargo was, how-
ever, a great source of pharasaical scandal in France. Here
were men with vows of poverty exercising the rights of
proprietorship.  The ecclesiastical and lay mind was very
much stirred up by it: but under the circumstances, the
average canonist will not accuse them of violating their
vow, and Biard was a good enough theologian to know what
he was doing.

Champlain, who took part in the controversv, averred
that “the Jesuits always acted within the lines of the
strictest equity.” They themselves had no scruple about
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their course, and their only regret was that they left Europe
s0 soon only to arrive so late. It was mid-winter and the
voyage lasted four months.  Champlain, who had set sail
after them on his way to Quebec, found them struggling
in the icebergs in the Gulf. Cape Canso was the first land
they reached, and from that they worked their way along
the 120 leagues of intervening coast until they came to Port
Royal, which, the * Relation™ says, they entered *“on
June 22d, 1611, which happened to be Pentecost Sunday "—
an evident mistake, for it is in contradiction with Biard's
letter which gives May 22d; and besides, Pentecost of 1611
fell on May 22d.  As a matter of fact the festival is never
as late as June R2d.

Whatever proprietorship the Jesuits had in the cargo
was not in evidence on the way over. They worked their
passage : mended and washed their clothes and looked after
their own wants like the humblest man on board. They
even won the good will of Biencourt, though they were at
first unwelcome passengers. They treated him as the abso-
lute master of the ship, and continued the same line of con-
duct after landing. They ingratiated themselves with the
crew, who were mostly Calvinists, got them to join in
morning and night prayers, and to listen to the sermons
on Sundays and festivals, as well as three discourses a week
during Lent. There were religious discussions also, but
without fisticuffs, and all finally agreed that the Jesuits were
not the monsters they were generally thought to be. On
the contrary, the verdict was that “they were honest and
courteous gentlemen who had good manners and a straight
conscience,” which is a very valuable endorsement of the
much misunderstood Society

The arrival of the ship naturally threw the colony into
great excitement. Two eager individuals hurried out in
an Indian canoe to meet it, and succeeded in upsetting their
boat, and the flurry of course increased. Every one
on the beach shouted orders which could be heard by no one
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else; while Potrincourt and Biard waved their hats to the
distant ship, without attracting attention and then knelt
down to say their prayers. Finally the luckless wights were
fished out of the water, thus preventing a disaster which
would have been a damper on the general happiness. It
is worth noting how many of these early voyageurs knew
nothing about the art of swimming, which for their manner
of life would be the first thing to learn.

Potrincourt was naturally delighted to see his son, for
to all appearances it was the end of the colony’s trials, which
were even worse than the * Relation ™ tells us of, for not
only was every one down to starvation fare, but Biard’s
letter to the Provincial says that for three weeks a number
of the colonists had been sent off to live among the Indians.
Everything seemed bright now, but unfortunately all hopes
of a betterment soon vanished ; for the ship's supplies were
altogether inadequate.  ** They were only a drop of water,”
says Biard, “to a thirsty man.” The thirty-six new ar-
rivals, added to the twenty-three colonists already there,
made fifty-nine to feed, not to speak of the hungry Indian
Chief, Membertou, his daughter and their troop. Besides,
as the ship had been four months at sea its provisions were
nearly exhausted, for it was only a small craft of fifty or
sixty tons; more of a fishing smack than anything else.
Hence, means had to be devised to disperse this large family,
both to provide food and to get something for trading with
the Indians: for money was needed to pay the men and to
get means for the journey back to IFrance.

FFor that purpose Potrincourt set out for a place twenty-
two leagues west of Port Royal, where he hoped to meet
some French traders.  Biard, who was anxious to know the
country and get acquainted with the natives went with him.
On their way they came across four vessels.  The captains
were all summoned and compelled to acknowledge young
Biencourt as vice-admiral.  They all contributed their quota
of provisions ; but “may God forgive the erew from Rochelle
16
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for cheating the revenue,” writes Biard, “they gave us
barrels of mouldy bread which they told us was good.”

While all this was going on, Biard heard that young
Du Pont, the son of the famous Pontgravé, Champlain's old
associate, was living among the Indians, and, unfortunately,
behaving like them.  Ie had been arrested the year before
by Potrincourt for something or other, but had escaped,
and was in great misery, not even daring to board his own
vessel for fear of being captured. Biard pleaded for him
and was allowed to hunt him up.  He found him and recon-
ciled him to Potrincourt ; the ship's cannon announcing the
good news to the white and red men.  The poor fellow
went to confession on the beach, the Indians looking on at
a distance and wondering what was being done during the
long time they saw him kneeling at the feet of the priest.
When that was over, Mass was said on the shore, and Pont-
grave received Holy Communion.  This interesting event
occurred, according to the ** Relation,” at La Pierre Blanche,
which was probably at the Grand Menan, for there is a
point there called Whitehead—which is a near enough trans-
lation of La Pierre Blanche.  When all was over the prod-
igal asked to have Biard dine with him on board his ship,
which shows that the rulers in those days did not leave
much liberty to their subjects. The petition was granted,
but Potrincourt lost his temper again and seized the vessel.
Biard, a second time came to the rescue and straightened
out the difficulty, *for which,” he writes, 1 shall be
forever obliged to the Sieur de Potrincourt.”

In the month of June of the same year, 1611, Potrincourt
started back to France with all the colonists except twenty-
two.  That had to be done, otherwise the whole party must
have starved to death in the winter time. The missionaries
then set to work to study the language. But it was a hope-
less task. The Indians had no abstract ideas whatever,
and when it came to explain the meaning of holiness, sac-
raments, faith, law, temptation and the like, complete failure

17




PIONEER PRIESTS OIF NORTH AMERICA.

resulted.  What added to the trouble was that the wily
savages amused themselves by putting foul expressions in
the mouths of their questioners, and, moreover, always
insisted on being fed as a reward for their pedagogical
labors. Biard then asked young Biencourt for leave to go
and pass the winter with Du Pont, who was eighteen or
twenty leagues from Port Royal, and who having lived
among the savages knew their language. But the proposal
put the youthful governor in a temper and for sake of peace
the matter was dropped.

Shortly afterwards, on returning from a trip to Ste. Croix
Island with Biencourt, Biard found that the old Sagamo,
Membertou, had arrived very ill at the colony, and had been
installed by Father Massé in Biard's bed. The good natured
missionary, however, did not object to the invasion, but
when the Indian’s wife and daughter took up their abode in
the cabin, making it almost impossible to turn around, for
the place was extremely small, the very reasonable request
was made in the interests of propriety and convenience, to
have the sick man removed to another cabin. The surly
Biencourt refused, and so an outside addition had to be
built to the establishment, and there the old man was finally
accommodated.  He was near his end and was dying
piously, when another difficulty arose; this time about his
prospective interment.

Backed by Biencourt, he wanted to be buried in Indian
fashion; a request whicn the priests refused to entertain,
That called for more temper on the part of Biencourt, but
finally the chief was persuaded to yield, and they gave him
a Christian funeral.  Biencourt, however, refused to bury
his own resentment.  The death of Membertou was a dis-
aster for the missionaries, for he was a very intelligent
savage and a good Christian according to his lights. He
had great influence among his people, spoke a little French
and did his best to instruct the priests in the native language.
He had known Jacques Cartier, and was said to be over
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one hundred years old, and, unlike his race, cultivated a
beard. If that were so it is difficult to understand the sur-
prise of the Indians at the hairy chins of the Frenchmen,
but perhaps they thought that only Membertou had a right
to the distinction.

An event occurred at this juncture which showed very
clearly that the settlement of Acadia was impossible under
the petulant and conceited Biencourt. Hunger was again
beginning to worry the colonists, so the Governor deter-
mined to go out on a hunt for food among the Armouchi-
quois who lived near what would be now the borders of
Maine and Massachusetts. He was very late in starting,
and besides had determined to go by the roundabout way of
St. John's River, where Captain Merveille and young Du
Pont, with five or six others, all from St. Malo in France,
had thrown up a little fort, about eighteen miles from the
mouth of the river. Biencourt wanted to exact a fifth of
their trading profits, for he claimed the monopoly of every-
thing in those parts; which, of course, was going to be
resented by those joyous freetraders,

He reached the place about night, when the sky suddenly
reddened.  The Indians startled by the phenomenon pre-
dicted war and bloodshed, and the white men also began
to prognosticate, ** to make their almanachs,” says DBiard.
As the ship approached, one of its guns saluted the
fort, and the little swivel on shore gave the answering
welcome.  Next morning prayers were said (for these old
marauders were very devout), and a couple of Frenchmen
appeared on the beach inviting the visitors to disembark,
saying that their two commanders, Merveille and Du Pont,
had been away for three days, and no one knew when they
would return.  Father Biard celebrated Mass on the shore,
and all piously assisted: but immediately afterwards, Bien-
court, to the amazement of everyone, posted sentries around
the fort and declared the garrison his prisoners. It was a
shabby return for their hospitality. Some gave themselves
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up for lost, and others raged furiously and meditated all
manner of vengeance.

That night Captain Merveille returned home, and was
very much surprised when he neared the fort to hear a
sentry challenge him with “ Who goes there?” *“Who
goes there yourself? " he answered. \Whereupon the man
with the gun took aim and fired, and * it was a marvel,”
says Diard, * that Captain Marvel was not killed.” He
was at least very much astonished when several soldiers
rushed out and took him prisoner. It was a curious con-
dition of things for these starving exiles to be cutting such
capers at midnight in the woods of the St. John's River.
Merveille was gagged, bound and dragged inside; and his
captors began to disport themselves about the room, leaping
and shouting like so many young savages  The poor
wretch, who was sick at the time and worn out by his long
journey, threw himself on the ground near the fire and
moaned piteously, while everyone else shouted and roared
at their captive.  Biard strove to restore order but without
avail, and then in despair knelt down to pray. After a
while Merveille perceived him, and leaping up with a bound
flung himself at the side of the priest, crying : *“ Father, hear
my confession: I am a dead man.”  This was too much for
a scattered-brained soldier, who, picking up a musket from
where Merveille had been lying, pulled the trigger, and
aiming the weapon at the kneeling man cried out: * Traitor
—you were going to kill us.”  As Merveille was hand-
cuffed and such a feat impossible, the charge seemed only
an excuse to kill, and so Biard flung himself in front of the
gun. He finally succeeded in persuading the excited men
to put the prisoner in the lock-up for the night, promising
to stand guard at the door to prevent his escape. The
victim was therefore thrust in, bound hand and foot, but
suffered so much and groaned so piteously that the priest
pleaded to have the chains eased a trifle. That was done;
but the captors had a riotous time for the rest of the night,
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while Biard kept at his prayers till morning. He then pre-
pared Merveille and some of his more obstreperous com-
panions for death. But the execution did not take place.

In the afternoon he asked leave to go out and hunt for
Du Pont, first exacting a promise of good treatment from
Biencourt.  He had hardly left the fort when Du Pont
himself walked in, and then everyone suddenly quieted down,
and Biencourt even borrowed Merveille's boat to go off
to visit the Armouchiquois as if nothing had happened.
What did all these antics mean? \Were they merely rough
sport or an evidence of the frivolity and fickleness of these
curious colonists?

Biencourt had two reasons to visit the Armouchiquois
country ; one was to see if the English had taken possession
there, as Paltrier, who had been captured by them the year
before assured him was the case; the other, a more urgent
one, viz: to buy some corn against the possible starvation
of the following winter. Biard went with him, and he has
left us a very vivid description of what he saw in these parts.
It is of special value, as it is the first picture we have of
Maine as it was 300 years ago. It is not to be found in the
“ Relation,” but in a letter to the Provincial in France. It
is dated January 31, 1612, and was consequently written
after Biard's return to Port Royal.

Jefore reaching the Armouchiquois country, ** we entered
the Kennebec,” he says. *“ which is eighty leagues from Port
Royal It was the 28th of October, 1611, As soon as our
people landed they hurried off to see the English fort; for
they had heard there was no one in it "—which shows how
brave these warriors were. “ They soon found it; and as
everything new is marvellous, the advantages of the site
formed a subject of general admiration; but opinions
changed, in a day or so, when it was seen that a second fort
might be built near by which would cut off the first both
from the sea and the river. Besides, there were other
places not very far away, which were just as good, if not
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better, for trading purposes. On the third day, as there
was a breeze blowing up the river, and the tide was setting
in, it was determined to take advantage of both conditions
to explore a part of the country. We had gone about three
leagues when the tide began to ebb so we dropped anchor
in mid-stream. We had hardly done so when six canoes,
containing twenty-eight warriors, were seen coming towards
us.  They went through a thousand evolutions as they ap-
proached, and they looked for all the world like a flock of
birds hovering over a ploughed field, but afraid of the
scarecrow. We were not displeased at their slowness, for
it gave us time to arm and fling our flags to the wind.
Finally they drew near and carefully studied our guns, our
weapons, the number of the crew, ete.; bhut when night
came on they set off for the other side of the river, not out
of the reach of our cannons, but too far for a good aim,

“All night long we heard them singing and dancing
and making speeches.  As we presumed that their songs and
dances were incantations, the crew, at my suggestion, began
to chant the Salve Regina, Ave Maris Stella, &c. But as
the sailors’ repertory of church hymns was small, they fol-
lowed with every song they knew, and when that stock gave
out they began to imitate the songs and dances of the In-
dians; for your Frenchman is a born mimic. \While one
party sung, the other kept silence. It was impossible to
refrain from laughing, for you would have thought they
were two trained choirs. Indeed, it would have been hard
to distinguish the genuine Indian song from the imita-
tion,

*“When morning came, we resumed our journey up the
stream. They accompanied us in their canoes, and told
us that by taking the right branch we should arrive at the
village of the great Sagamo, Meteourmite, who had plenty
of corn.  They would go with us and show us t
Although there was every indication that they were |
a trick on us we did as they said, part of them going
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of us, part following after. But we had not gone a half a
league when we reached a widening of the river. Suddenly
the man with the lead cried out: * two fathoms; one fathom;
one fathom everywhere. Haul in; haul in; drop anchor.’
We looked around for the Indians. They had disappeared
like magic. Oh, the traitors! *About ship!’ rang out
from the captain.

“ Meteourmite, however, who had been warned of our
arrival, and saw us change our course, came in all haste
to meet us. Fortunately Biencourt had better sense than
his crew, who wanted to murder everybody. They were
wild with rage and fear, but their rage made the most noise.
In spite of that, the chief was received with respect, and he
assured us there was a channel we could safely follow, and
he offered some of his men as pilots. We believed him but
repented of it, when we found ourselves amid such perilous
rapids that we thought we should never escape. Many of
the men were terror stricken, and cried out that we were
surely lost.  But they cried too soon.

“When we arrived, Biencourt put his men under arms,
so as to march into Meteourmite's village in martial array.
On entering the cabin we found his majesty alone, and
seated; the wigwam from bottom to top was hung with
mats, and outside stood forty stalwart warriors on guard,
with bows and arrows on the ground in front of them.
Those Indians are not fools by any means.

“T received more attention,” continues Biard, * than all
the rest.  As I had no weapons, the most distinguished
chiefs took no notice of the soldiers, but bestowed on me
every mark of friendship. They conducted me to the largest
wigwam, where about eighty people were assembled. When
all had taken their places, T fell on my knees, and making
the sign of the cross, recited the Pater, Ave and Credo and
some other prayers, and the Indians after a pause cried out,
as if they understood me, ‘ Ho! Ho!’ T then distributed
crosses and pictures among them and tried to make them
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understand as well as I could. They kissed the pious ob-
jects, tried to make the sign of the cross, and held up their
children to be blessed. The same thing was repeated in
another cabir,

* Meteourmite told Biencourt that he had not much corn
but had some pelts to sell; and next morning while the
trade was going on I went on shore to say Mass, taking a
boy as server. Our people on the ship, to avoid surprise,
had armed themselves to the teeth, and built up barricades
on the deck, leaving the centre free for the Indians who
began to swarm over the ship. But their precautions were
useless; the red men were everywhere, mixed up pell-mell
with the crew. In vain the Frenchmen cried ‘ Back! Back!”’
the Indians shouted louder than they.

* There was nothing but tumult and confusion. Every-
one was sure it was a trap. Indeed, Biencourt said after-
wards that he was more than once on the point of crying
“Kill! Kill!” but the thought of me in the woods choked
back the words. Had he given the order not only I, but
every Frenchman would have been slaughtered, and the
French name would have been forever execrated along the
coast. Meteourmite and some of the other chiefs saw the
danger and called off their people. In the evening a num-
ber of Indians were sent to make excuses for the trouble
in the early part of the day, and to lay the blame on a
party of Armouchiquois who had got in among them.
They, themselves, respected the French, for they saw that
they had treated the natives well, eating with them and
giving them presents which had been brought from France.
All this was announced to us in grand discourses; for those
people are the greatest speech-makers on earth. They do
nothing without a speech.

“TIt appears that all the trouble arose from what some
Englishmen had done a few years before. In 1608 they
had settled at one of the mouths of the Kennebec, and
although the commander was an excellent man, and treated
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e natives kindly, he was killed. In 1609 the next party
i Lnglish assumed the offensive and dealt sternly with the
adians.  In consequence, the Armouchiquois took their
cvenge on every pale face they could lay their hands on;

«nd one day, watching the enemy, and seeing three shallops

go off to fish, they followed cautiously, approaching with

every sign of friendship, but at a given signal each red-skin
plunged his knife into his victim's throat.  Eleven English-
men were murdered that day, and the rest of the party aban-
doned the Kennebec, only venturing occasionally on the

Island of Emmentic which was eight leagues away from the
fort.

*“When Biencourt heard this story he went down to the
Island and erected a cross there with the arms of Irance on
it. He found some shallops on the shore and was urged
to burn them, but as he was of a mild and humane dis-
position he refused, saying that they belonged to fishermen
and not to soldiers. It was now the 6th of November and
we started for Port Royal, intending to visit the Penobscot
on our way, which we found to be a beautiful river, some-
thing like the Garonne in France. It empties into the Bay of
Fundy. When you ascend the stream it seems like a great
sound or inlet of the sea. \Where you first meet the cur-
rent the river is about three leagues in width, and you are
then about 4412° north latitude.  You cannot imagine what
the Norumbega of the Ancients was if it was not this.
We asked about that place but could get no information.

* We continued on about three leagues further, and came
to another fine river called the Chiboctos, which flows from
the northeast into the Penobscot. At the confluence we
saw in front of us the finest assembly of Indians we had
vet met with. There were eighty canoes and a shallop, and
in their village we found eighteen cabins and about three
hundred people.  Their most conspicuous chief was called
Detsabés, who was a very discreet and self-controlled indi-
vidual.  Indeed, one meets among these savages instances
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of natural virtue and political skill that make one who is
not lost to all sense of shame, blush for some of the French
who come to these parts.

“When they recognized us there was great joy and all
began to dance and sing. \We had no fear of them, for
we trusted the Etchemins and Souriquois as much as our
own servants, and thank God! we were not often deceived.

On the following day I visited the savages, and the same
ceremonies were gone through with as on the Kennebec.
I went around to see the sick, and read the gospel and re-
cited prayers over them, giving each a cross to wear. |
found one poor wretch who had been ill for four months
and who was stretched out near the fire.  The death sweat
was already on his forehead. Two days afterwards I saw
him in his canoe sound and hearty. He came out to the
ship to thank me, and to show me the cross around his
neck. I could only shake hands with him, for I was unable
e, and even if I were, there was such a
turmoil around us, for the trafficking was going on, that
we could not have heard each other.

*Such was the result of our visit. We had not done
much preaching of the Gospel but we were beginning to
know and be known. The Indians were growing accus-

to speak his languay

tomed to religious things, and when we said Mass in the
woods they would stand around in respectful silence. They
were as pleased as the little boys at Port Royal whom we
made carry the cross, or the torches, or the holy water,
when we went in procession at the Indian interments,”
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CHAPTER II
MouNT DESERT,

After leaving the Penobscot, the travelers touched at Ste.
Croix Island, where Captain Platrier had settled. IFrom
him Biencourt obtained a couple of barrels of peas. It was
a welcome contribution, small as it was, and as every one
was then in good humor, Biard asked permission to go to
the settlement on the St. John's in order to study Indian
with Du Pont, but Biencourt would consent only on con
dition that the priest would support the sailors of the ship
until spring time. As such an agreement was out of the
question they all returned to Port Royal. It was high time,
for already winter was taking its grip on the harbor. Biard
was worn out and ill, but soon managed to get on his feet
again.  Snow fell on the 26th of November, and provisions
again ran so short that each one was down to a supply of
ten ounces of bread, a half pound of pork, three spoonfuls
of peas, and one of prunes which had to last for a week.
Occasionally an Indian came in with some fish or game
and a feast followed, but there were gloomy apprehensions
for the long winter ahead. “On the third Sunday after
Christmas,” writes Biard, “T was preaching on the mar-
riage feast of Cana, and after the service I quoted the text
to Biencourt: ‘ Finwm non habent: they have no wine,
and asked him to give what was left in the barrel to his
people. It would cheer them up and perhaps help would
soon arrive. We had a feast that day, and lo! one week
afterwards a vessel arrived from France and we had plenty
to eat for the rest of the winter.”

This vessel was the practical outcome of the long nego-
tiations of the elder Biencourt with the Marquise de
Guercheville. Being at his wits’ ends to find backers for his
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ill-fated scheme, he bethought himself of the pious marquise.
She again consented to furnish money, but this time very
wisely insisted on having some of the profits; and she went
so far as to propose to purchase for a thousand crowns the
whole of the Acadian grant, except Port Royal. Potrincourt
was incensed ; whereupon she demanded his charter. To gain
time, he said it was in America, whereupon she addressed
herself to the original owner, Du Gast, who declared that
his charter had never been cancelled, and he forthwith made
over to her the whole of Acadia, by which she came into
possession of all the country from Florida to Labrador, and
going west as far as she could find land. She was thus on
paper the greatest land-lady that America has ever known.
Naturally the purchase did not help the temper of Potrin-
court but he had to submit; so he appointed as his agent a
certain Simon Imbert, a former tavern keeper of Paris,
an arrangement that gave fresh cause for misunderstand-
ings and troubles. When the vessel arrived at Port Royal
January 23d, 1612, every one was happy except young Bien-
court, for he soon heard of the negotiations in France. To
make matters worse, a lay-brother, Gilbert du Thet, who
came over as the agent of the marquise informed Biencourt
of what everyone knew, that Imbert had kept no account
of the cargo or the dishursements of the money given him;
that he had sold some of the goods at Dieppe, had disposed
of other supplies on the voyage, and had not given an exact
list on his arrival.  The imprudent Biencourt made all haste
to communicate this to Imbert himself.  That started a
storm.  There were recriminations on all sides, and Imbert
persuaded Biencourt that it was a deep-laid Jesuit plot to
dispossess him and his father from all their holdings in the
colony.  Indeed Lescarbot and Le Tac narrate that du Thet
proceeded to excommunicate his opponents: but, as du Thet
was a lay brother, such a proceeding was beyond his powers;
nor did he or any one else ever think of such a performance.
But it is a curious instance of the persistency of historical
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falsehood, that even many Catholic writers still speak of
du Thet as a priest.

Finally peace was made, but prosperity did not accom-
pany it. IFor some reason or other Biencourt had got it
into his head that a whole fleet was to come out to supply
him with provisions, and hence he rapidly bartered off all
he had for peltries, with the result that the unfortunate
colony was again struggling with starvation. Du Thet had
meantime returned to IFrance and poor old Potrincourt was
once more importuning the marquise for help.  But the
good dame’s patience was exhausted.  The missionaries had
informed her that it was impossible to do anything with the
Indians under Biencourt, and very little with the French,
on account of the Calvinist leaven in the colony. Martin
says that they sent her a map and urged a distinctively
Catholic seitlement on * the continent.” The word * con-
tinent ' is somewhat peculiar, especially when employed by
Martin, for it would imply that Nova Scotia was an island
which of course it is not.  On the other hand Hannay, in his
* History of Acadia,” tells us that the missionaries had pro-
cured a chart of the country, and that when their plans had
been discovered by Biencourt, he entered into a towering
rage and declared he would put them under arrest if they at-
tempted to leave the colony, as they had heen sent there
by royal order. He also adds that Biencourt suspended all
religious services for three months. Biard says nothing
of this; and as for finding the chart, he must have known the
coast of Maine nearly as well as Biencourt. At all events
the marquise fitted out a ship, but unfortunately handed it
over to another blunderer, La Saussaye, bidding him to call
at Port Royal to take the Jesuits there with him and to
look for some other place to found a colony.

There were forty people in La Sauss: expedition, in-
cluding Brother du Thet and Father Quentin. They had
horses, and goats, and tents, and plenty of provisions on
board, so that the prospects were bright when the vessel
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left Honfleur on the 12th of March, 1613. They reached
Cape de la Heve on the 16th of May and went ashore
where Mass was celebrated, and a cross erected with the
Guercheville escutcheon upon it.  From thence they made
their way to Port Royal, where, to their amazement, they
found only five persons; the two priests, Biard and Massé;
their servant; the apothecary Heébert, who afterwards be-
came so conspicuous in Quebec; and another person whose
name or occupation is not given. The rest were away in
the woods. La Saussaye waited at Port Royal for five
days, but as no one else appeared he took the two priests
on board and sailed away over the Bay of Fundy, the in-
tention being to settle at the mouth of the Penobscot, at a
place called Kadesquit. *“ But God,” says the pious chroni-
cler, “ disposed otherwise, for while we were off the Island
of Menan, a heavy fog came down upon us, turning the
day into night, and there we remained for forty-eight hours
veering now to the left and now to the right as God inspired
us.” At last the stars appeared, and on the third day the
fog lifted and the travellers found themselves opposite
Mount Desert, which the Indians called Pemetig.  The pilot
worked around to the east of the Island and entered a
spacious port.  Going ashore, they erected a cross, sung a
hymn of thanksgiving and after Mass was celebrated held
a consultation and decided to name the place St. Sauveur.,
Champlain had been there in 16035, and had called the
island L'Isle aux Monts Deserts, because of the five-notched
hill, whose * shrubless brow,” as Whittier with his muddled
metaphor describes it, seemed to Champlain when he was
out in the open to be a barren heap of stone. A monument
recently erected on the shore commemorates Champlain’s
visit.  Four years after Champlain’s arrival a less peaceful
explorer dropped anchor there. It was Henry Hudson, on
on his way to the river which bears his name, though it
had been called after St. Anthony long before the Half
Moon had crossed the Atlantic.

30

There is no monument to




CHAMPLAIN MONUMENT, MOUNT DESERT



PETER BIARD.

Hudson at Bar Harbor, nor should there be, for he records
in his * Journal ™ that “in the morning we manned our
scute with four muskets and six men and took one of the
Indian shallops and brought it aboard. Then we manned
our boat and scute with twelve men and muskets and two
stone pieces or murderers, and drove the savages from their
houses, and took the spoil of them.” How many savages
were slain by the * murderers” when Hudson * took the
spoil " of the Indians we are not told, but it is noteworthy
that although this interesting event happened only four years
before the arrival of La Saussaye, the Frenchmen were
received very cordially, which would go to show that the
Indians even then were observers of racial differences.

Another interesting fact about Bar Harbor is that eighty
years afterwards, namely in 1688, the famous IFrench Baron
de Castine, who had married an Indian squaw, lived there,
but he was driven out by Governor Andros who pillaged
the settlement and conscientiously destroyed the altar.
Another notable individual is also identified with Mt. Desert,
namely de la Mothe Cadillac, the founder of Detroit, who
was styled the Seigneur of Bonaquat and Mt. Desert.
Whether he was ever there in person is not certain, but in
virtue of the grant made to him in 1688, his descendants,
the Gregoires, had their claim of possession allowed by the
Court of Massachusetts after the Revolutionary war, [t
is curious to find Cadillac, who was the great enemy of the
missionaries at Mackinac in 1700, in control of the place
whence the predecessors of those same missionaries were
driven in 1613.  To-day, as every one knows, Bar Harbor
is the refuge of opulence from the summer heats, but there
is a Catholic church there with the title of St. Sauveur, or
Holy Redeemer. A Protestant chapel has assumed the
name also, and even the streets and caravanseries perpetuate
it.

When La Saussaye landed at Mt. Desert in 1613, the
inevitable quarreling immediately began; some were for
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remaining where they were, others for going off to look for
Kadesquit. DBut the Indians persuaded the travellers that
the place they were in was the best to be found, and so it
vas finally decided to make the settlement permanent.
* Rude entrenchments,” says Bancroft, * were raised by
La Saussaye on the eastern shore of Mt. Desert Isle. The
conversion of the heathen was the motive to the settlement;
the natives venerated Biard as a messenger from heaven,
and under the summer sky, round a cross in the centre of
the hamlet, matins and vespers were regularly chanted.
IFrance and the Roman religion had appropriated the soil
of Maine.”

Apart from the fact that there was no *chanting of
matins and vespers,” for these missionaries were not monks,

‘

the distinguished historian misses the important point in
the establishment of this unfortunate colony. La Saussaye,
or de la Saussaye, as Charlevoix calls him, did not raise
any “ rude entrenchments,” at least immediately.  His fail-
ure to do so was the head and front of his offending. He
was bent on laying out farms, and although entreated by
every one to do something in the way of defense against
possible attack he refused, though he seems to have at-
tempted something later.  Charlevoix credits him with a
fort which suffered a cannonade, though it had no gun to
reply, but the distinguished Jesuit's account of the taking
of St. Sauveur is one mass of errors. It is hard to explain
his mistakes, as he must have read the account of Biard,
who was an eye witness: but possibly he wrote from
memory after perusing the document. * Every one was in
bad temper,” says Biard, “but the English soon made us
agree.”

All that summer a vessel from Virginia had been prowling
around the coast, ostensibly in quest of fish, but as it had four-
teen cannon and sixty musketeers, its occupation could not
have heen such a peaceful one.  Charlevoix says it was con-
voying a fleet of fishing smacks, but none of these vessels
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appeared on the scene. Samuel Argall, its captain, Biard
found very courteous in his ways, but from what the Protes-
tant writers tell us of him, he had many an evil deed to ac-
count for. Among other things he is credited with having
carried off the famous Indian princess, Pocahontas, from a
chief to whom Powhatan had confided her. Argall bribed the
custodian with a brass kettle and then led the maiden off to
Jamestown. The outrage very nearly provoked a general
massacre of the colonists. It was particularly odious be-
cause it occurred after Pocahontas had saved Captain John
Smith from death. In spite of this, Argall became
Deputy Governor of Virginia in 1617, but was so tyrannical
that he was recalled to England in 1619. He had, however,
taken care to amass a fortune meantime. It is asserted
that while returning from the expedition in which we now
see him, he stopped at Manhattan and demanded its sur-
render from the Dutch on the ground that it was discovered
by an Englishman. But Brodhead, in his * History of
New York,” denounces this as * fabulous.” After Dela-
ware's death, Argall took charge of the estate. Letters of
Lady Delaware, yet in existence, accuse him of flagrant
peculation.

Such was the buccaneer who was sailing along the coast
of Maine in the summer of 1613. He had been lost in the
fog, but when the sky cleared he picked up an Indian who
told him of the French seitlement near by. It was great
news for his ragged and ravenous crew, and under the
guidance of the red man, who fancied he was bringing
friends together but who was afterwards nearly killed by his
fellow savages for his error, Argall set every sail for Mt.
Desert. “He came into the harhor like an arrow,” says
Biard; “ the wind was aft, the blood red banner of England
floated at the peak, and three trumpeters and two drummers
kept up a tremendous noise. Ta Saussaye remained on shore
and kept the greatest number of his men around him, while
La Motte, the lieutenant, Ronferé, the ensign, and Joubert,
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the sergeant, hurried to join Captain Flory on the ship.
But alas! she was at anchor and could not budge ; there were
only ten sailors on board, none of whom ever expected a
sea fight ; and worst of all the sails were down, and stretched
like a tent on the deck from stem to stern. * It was for-
tunate,” says Biard, somewhat cynically, or paternally, * for
it |)rululul the men, and none of them could be picked off
by the Iinglish musketeers when they came to close quar-
ters. “Who are you?’ shouted the English as they ap-
proached. The French replied in the sailor fashion of those
days: “‘O! O!" But the only acknowledgement from the
other side was a discharge of cannon and musketry. The
shots fell all at once on the sides, and bow, and poop. To
Biard's eyes the enemy’s ship seemed all aflame. * Fire,”
cried Captain Flory, but the cannoneer was conveniently
ashore; whereupon the lay-brother, du Thet, who was no
coward, though Father Charlevoix says his courage was
“vrai ou prétendu,” seized the match and blazed away.
Unfortunately he did not take aim. “ Had he done so,”
says the chronicle, “ there would have been something more
than noise.”

The enemy then came alongside and the grappling irons
were flung out to seize the prey: but Captain Flory let go
the cable and saved himself for a moment.  The vessel could
only go a certain length at best, and the English opened fire
with their muskets. It was in that discharge that du Thet
fell mortally wounded. The Captain received a ball in the
foot, and three of the men were more or less seriously
wounded.  Some one shouted “we surrender,” others
sprang overboard and swam for shore, but two of them were
either drowned or shot hefore they reached the land. The
battle was over. The English boarded and took the ship.

The victors then went ashore and demanded by what
right the French were on their territory.  They sought for
La Saussaye, but that worthy had disappeared.  Whereupon
Argall began to rifle the trunks, and to his great delizht
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found La Saussaye's commission. That valuable d
he pocketed forthwith, and putting everything else back
again very neatly, “ gentiment,” says Biard, waited for the
gallant commander’s return.  \Vhen he made his appearance
he was received very politely and with many professions of
regard, and after a while was requested to show his papers.
He went to his trunk, found everything in good order but,
of course, there was no commission. The farce went on.
“What! " thundered Argall, * you pretend to have a royal
commission, and you have no papers to prove it. Avaunt!
pirates, and free booters; you deserve to be hanged. Go,
men, and seize your booty,

and off they posted to the ship,
while the I'renchmen sat on the shore and looked on at the
plundering.  Next day the loot began on land. ~ There was
some rough scuffling for a time, and a number of the set-
tlers fled to the woods, starving and half naked though they
were, rather than take their chances with the English.

On board of Argall's ship was » Catholic surgeon. It is
to be regretted that we do not know his name, for he had
the wounded taken on shore, and tenderly cared for. Du
Thet died twenty-four hours afterwards, and was buried at
the foot of the cross which had been erected in the centre
of the settlement. \Where the exact spot is has not been
ascertained.  Biard and Massé meanwhile had gone on the
ship to implore the Captain to be merciiul with the settlers.
They succeeded, and when he discovered that they were
Jesuit missionaries, he expressed his surprise to find them
in the company of such scoundrels; a somewhat sardonic
remark from an Englishman in Reformation times. They
of course, defended their associates, and he was finally con-
vinced that his captives were not pirates, for he added:
“It is a pity you have lost your papers. 1 shall see about
your return to France.”  After that he insisted that the two
priests should take their meals at his table, and he continued
from that cut to treat them with the greatest respect. He
had his game to play, for he wanted to lay hands on the
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French pilot and some of the crew who had escaped and
were hiding in the woods. It was an uncomfortable position
for the English, as they could not leave any witnesses of
their exploit behind them. Perhaps had they succeeded in
capturing the fugitives, the whole party would have been
taken care of so as to tell no tales. * But on the whole,”
says Biard, “ Argall acted like a gentleman, and his people
were not inhuman or cruel to any of their captives.”

What was to be done with the Frenchmen? Biard tells
us that the Indians volunteered to provide for them on shore.
But as wintering among the savages was as yet an impos-
sible feat for the average white man, and as the natives
themselves had scarcely anything to eat, it was considered
unwise to accept the offer.  Nevertheless, one naturally asks
why did not the missionaries at least, who had come over
to evangelize the Indians, take this opportunity of living
among them, learning their language and beginning the
work of conversion?  As for learning the language directly
from the natives, that had been found impossible, and so
Biard asked to be landed on the Island of Pencoit where
there were some English fishermen whom Argall was to
request to look after the priests and have them conveyed
some way or other to France.  Did the missionaries lose
courage or did they conclude that it would be a useless
sacrifice of life, to repeat what had nearly put an end to
Massé a few months before in Acadia?  The most plausible
solution is that they were afraid of Biencourt, whom they
had left in Acadia.

Argall, however, concluded to put the thirty Frenchmen
in a shallop and let them shift for themselves, and La Saus-
save assented to that arrangement. But 2 protest was
made by the two priests, as it really meant nothing but
death to the whole party. The little craft with such a load
would certainly founder somewhere in the 150 leagues
it would have to travel before meeting a French ship. It must
not have helped La Saussaye's popularity with the French-
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men when it was told that he had accepted the proposal. Had
they all gone down in the sea, of course, it would have been
so much less trouble for Argall, but he did not insist and
then offered to transport all the artizans to Virginia, prom-
ising at the same time to send them back to France after
one '\'l'(ll',

Some of the men accepted the offer and even de la Motte,
to whom Argall had taken a fancy on account of his gallant
conduct in the fight consented to go also and was joined
later by Captain Flory.

Thus fourteen were left for the shallop, and Massé, at
their request, joined them. Biard and Quentin sailed away
with Argall expecting to be landed on the Island of Pencoit
as had been promised; but to their consternation they were
carried down to Virginia. They were assured, however,
that there was no danger to be apprehended, that Dale, the
Governor, was very fond of the French, having served in
the armies of Henry IV and was actually in the enjoy-
ment of a pension from the French Government

It is hard to reconcile this shameless falsehood with

\ Jard's continued characterization of Argall as a gentleman.
Still a man may be a polite liar, Dale indeed had been a
soldier under Henry IV, but he was a Calvinist and enter-
tained an intense hatred of everything Catholic; so much
so that when the captives arrived he determined to hang
every one of them: *We all expected,” says Biard, “to
mount ignominiously by a ladder and to descend very wretch-
edly by a rope.”  But Argall stood by them. Dale, how-
ever, persisted, until at last the theft of the papers had to
be admitted. The prisoners were evidently French sub-
jects, and there could be no question of putting them to
death. A few days afterwards the assurance was given that
the gallows would not be called into requisition.

A council was called and it was decided to send Argall
back to Acadia, with orders to destroy every French settle-
ment on the coast; to seize whatever vessel he might find,
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and to hang La Saussaye and any of his men if they had
persisted in remaining in those parts. They clearly over-
rated the bravery of La Saussaye. That hero never re-
turned to America.  Moreover, all the prisoners were to
reembark with Argall and to be landed at any place he chose.
He therefore set out with three vessels,  Dut not all of the
Frenchmen went with him. Probably most of them had
enough of the sea. On Argall’s ship was Captain Flory
with four men, while the two Jesuits were assigned to Ar-
gall’s lieutenant, Turnel,

They directed their course towards St. Sauveur where
they expected to find La Saussaye, but he was already safe
in France. They burned all the defences and houses, and
threw down the cross, but erected another one in its stead
with the escutcheon of the King of Eagland on it to declare
that he was henceforth and had always been the true master
of the territory. To vary the programme they hange.l one

of their own men for mutiny, choosing for the execution
the spot where they had thrown down the cross.

From St. Sauveur they made for the Island of Ste. Croix,
and there Biard fell into disfavor with Argall.  He refused
toact as pilot.  The captain was furious, and the priest came
near sharing the fate of the mutinous sailor.  But by help
of the charts which had heen found at St. Sauveur, Ste.
Croix was discovered.  The houses were burned; and every
mark of French ownership of the island was obliterated.

The next objective point was Port Royal.  After his ex-
perience with Biard, Argall concluded not to ask any
IFrenchman to guide him into that dangerous harbor; so
he scoured the country till he found a Sagamo who knew
the rocks and shoals.  They entered in full moonlight, and
if the French even then had been on the lookout they could
have defended themselves or at least decamped with their
belongings, especially as for ten or eleven hours the tide
prevented a landing.  But when the English finally did go
ashore, they found no one in the fort. The invaders were
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surprised at the negligence manifested, and also at the
amount of booty which a short search revealed.

The capture of the colony nearly cost Father Biard his
life. Having lost so much time in finding the place and in
hunting for a pilot, Turnel wanted to return to Virginia,
alleging the dangers of the place and the advancement of
the season, for it was then near the end of October.
Besides he had heard from Biard that he could get nothing
there except hatred, for the colony was in a miserable con-
dition. But when Argall, the chief of the expedition dis-
covered the place without difficulty, and moreover captured
considerable booty in provisions, clothes, tools, ete., he not
only reproached Turnel with putting trust in the Jesuit,
but allowed him a very small part of the plunder.  The lieu-
tenant was furious, for he always had the reputation of
being clever, and he now found himself in disgrace.  To help
his ill feeling the sailing-master of Argall's ship, who was
an English Puritan, and a deadly enemy of the Jesuits,
though outwardly very suave and discreet, advised Turnel
to put Biard ashore, on the plea that it was not proper that
he should be supported on the provisions which he had
endeavored to prevent the Einglish from obtaining.

The usual Jesuitical virtue of sincerity saved Biard from
this fate.  Twice he threw himself on his knees hefore
Argall to intercede for the colonists.  The captain believed
that he meant what he said, though at the very moment a
Frenchman who had just arrived from the woods was howl-
ing curses against the priest and demanding his death.
As Argall had not consented to the proposal of the Puri-
tan, neither did he hang the Jesuit to oblige the Catholic,
nor did he change his attitude when something worse oc-
cured.  Just as the ships were ready to depart and were
waiting for the tide, one of the colonists came out with a
document signed by five or six of his compatriots in which
Biard was accused of being a traitor, a Spaniard, a fugitive
from justice for crimes committed in Europe, as having
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led a scandalous life in Port Royal, etc., etc., but Argall
dismissed the Frenchman with a smile. In any case, he
had given his word to bring Biard back to Virginia, where,
he said to himself, he was sure to be hanged as soon as
the Governor heard of the refusal to guide the ships to the
different settlements. So having secured everything he
could lay hands on, even to nails and locks, he sailed away
when the wind was favorable after having set fire to the
settlement.  * Would to God,” writes Biard, *that the
fire could have destroyed all the sin that had been com
mitted in that place.”

It was on the 19th of November, 1613, when the three
ships turned their prows towards Virginia. The two priests
were on Turnel's ship, and that elegant pirate, who could
speak four or five languages, Latin among others, was now
thoroughly convinced that Biard was a thorough going
scoundrel, only fit to be strung up at the yard arm. lle
was particularly incensed because he had formerly admired
and liked him; but the damning testimony of the paper
presented by the colonists was before his eyes, and he felt
like a man whose confidence had been abused.  He was
angry also at finding out that his prisoner was a Spaniard,
masquerading as a Frenchman. Hatred of Spain was an
article of the Englishman's creed, for the invincible Ar-
mada was still remembered, but as a matter of fact Biard
not only had not a drop of Spanish blood in his veins,
but had never even set foot in Spain.  On the second day
out, a storm separated the three vessels. The barque wa:
wrecked, and the six Englishmen in it perished, whereas
Argall reached Virginia inside of a month. Dale received
him with pleasure, and joyously awaited the arrival of
Biard,  to whom he proposed “to show the end of the
world from the middle of a ladder,” but Almighty God
willed otherwise.

o

Turnel's ship was driven before the gale for sixteen
consecutive days, and all hope of reaching Virginia was
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abandoned.  Meantime the provisions were giving out,
and the horses on board were using up and fouling all the
water ; every sail was tattered and torn; the rigging was in
shreds. But suddenly fine weather came and the reckon-
ing showed they were scarcely twenty-five leagues from
port, which was the last thing the prisoners wanted.
So they redoubled their prayers and apparently God heard
them, for a furious southeaster arose right ahead of them.
The ship was put about; every sail was reefed, and DBiard
tells us * the men then thought only of their consciences.”
There was no help for it. The gale was too furious to
do anything but go before it, and the Captain made up his
mind the best he could do was to reach the Azores seven
hundred leagues away. IHe slaughtered the horses to get
something to eat, and also to save the small amount of
water they had left. Captors and captives both enjoyed
the horse flesh,

As the sailors all grew prayerful during this hurricane,
Turnel called Father Biard to his cabin and said: 1 see
that God is angry with us, but not on your account. We
went to war without making any previous declaration,
which, of course, was not right. But it was against my
advice and my liking. I had to obey. 1 repeat, God is
angry against us but not against you, although you are the
occasion of it.”  * However,” he resumed, it is very
strange that your countrymen should have spoken as they
did about you."  *Did you ever hear me speak ill of
them? ™ asked Biard. * Never; on the contrary, at the
very time they were reviling you, | noticed that you always
defended them. I am willing to testify to that.” * Who,
then, Captain, is likely to tell the truth on his side; the
charitable man or the calumniator?”  “The charitable
man, no doubt,” said Turnel, * but candidly, did not your
charity prompt you to lie to me, when you said we should
find nothing but misery at Port Royal?” * Pardon me,”
replied Biard, “ you will remember that I did not express
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myself in those words, but said that when I was there I
found nothing but misery in the place.” * True; you
did,” admitted the other, * and everything would be clear
except for the fact that you are a Spaniard, and you are
not so much trying to benefit the French as to do harm to
the English.” Biard endeavored to remove the impression,
but in vain; for Turnel could not understand how five or
or six Frenchmen who were facing death could have
consented to sign a false accusation against one of their
own countrymen and a priest, with no other purpose than
to have him hanged to satisfy their hatred.

After a while they came in sight of the Azores, but it
did not add to the happiness of Turnel or the crew. It
was Portuguese territory, and the presence of two captive
priests in an English vessel would mean the gallows or the
galleys for all concerned.  An easy solution of the difficulty
would have been to drop the troublesome Jesuits overboard,
but the grace of God was working in the heart of Turnel,
and if the suggestion ever presented itself it was rejected.
The two prisoners agreed to keep out of sight, if the vessel
was searched.

It was decided to remain outside of the harbor and to
send in a boat for supplies, in order to obviate any very
exhaustive investigation by the Port Warden, but luck was
against them, and they were compelled to enter the port.
In doing so they unfortunately fouled a Spanish ship and
tore off its bowsprit.  The haughty Don in command re-
garded the accident as intentional, and only a disguised
attempt at robbery; having had the same mischance with
a I'rench vessel in the same port five weeks before, His
men sprang to arms and there was imminent danger of a
fight.  The city was in consternation as were the sailors in
the port, but the trouble ended by Turnel going ashore,
and remaining there in custody of the authorities, who
now regarded him as a pirate. Meantime, the vessel was
searched again and again, and the Jesuits had to play hide
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and seek in every hole and corner, from the cock-pit to
the hold, in constant terror of being discovered. The
Spaniards came aboard in their turn, and again the game
of concealment had to be repeated. It was hard work and
at one time they found themselves behind a boat, holding
their breath and not daring to move hand or foot till the
visitors withdrew. The crew was pale with fear, but the
priests wanted to convince them that the prevalent idea
about Catholics not being obliged to keep faith with heretics
was a calumny, and they succeeded.  Had an accident,
however, occurred, and had they been discovered, of course
it would have been regarded as intentional. But nothing
happened, and when at last after three weeks detention
the vessel drew out of the port, the grateful Englishmen
hugged and kissed these two woe-begone Jesuits with en-
thusiasm. At this distance of time it is difficult to under-
stand why such a difficult process had to be resorted to in
order to conceal their identity. It would have been a
simple matter to have taken off their cassocks and to pass
as part of the crew. But there was a sort of superstition
prevalent just then of never going without the habit. Later
on we shall see Lalemant standing in his cassock on the
deck of a vessel that was being battered against the rocks,
and then complaining that his feet got entangled in it
when he was in the water. Biard boasted that he wore
his soutane during the nine months of his captivity.
Turnel's troubles were not yet over. It was impossible
to get back to Virginia, both because he had no provisions,
and because it was already the year 1614, when the
sailors” term of service was drawing to a close; so he headed
for England. He tried to get into the English Channel
but was driven first into Milford Haven, which Biard spells
* Milfer,” and then into the port of Pembroke in Wales.
There the unexpected happened. His ship was French,
for it was Mme. de Guercheville's, and he had no papers.
Argall had them in Virginia. The consequence was that
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he and his men were regarded as pirates, and were going
to be hanged.  There was only one way to save them-
selves. They brought the two Jesuits ashore to tell the
sceptical judges the whole story of their American ad-
ventures.  That saved the day, and from pirates they
became patriots, while the Jesuits were regarded as public
benefactors.

The summons to go ashore was very fortunate, for Biard
and his companion would have died of cold and starvation
if they had been compellel to pass the four weeks they
spent at Pembroke in the hold of the vessel. It was Tur-
nel's intention to leave them there, for a priest’s life was
not worth much in England at that time; but as their tes-
timony had saved so many honest Britons from the gallows,
the Judge, who was a fort honneste et grave personnage
inquired how they were lodged in the ship. When their
condition was explained, he made arrangements to in-
stall them in the house of the Mayor, saying that it would
be a shame not to treat such distinguished and learned men
with courtesy.  Biard takes care to hand down to pos-
terity the name of this observant old gentleman. It was
Nicholas Adams.

Ministers, lawyers, gentlemen, and others, called on them
and a noble Lord of the Council arranged for a controversy
with four eminent ministers. I call them ministers,” says
Biard, * but in England they are called * priests.” " * Our
chief antagonist was an archdeacon, for the English re-
tain much of the old ecclesiastical nomenclature.  They have
their archbishops, bishops, priests, curates, canons, etc.
They insist on the imposition of hands for the priesthood;
have minor orders, confirmation, the chrism and all the
cercmonies, the sign of the cross, holy images, festivals of
saints, lent, abstinence on Fridays and Saturdays, priestly
vestments, sacred vessels, ete The Scotch and French
Calvinists who condemn all these practices as damnable
superstitions and inventions of the devil are called Puritans
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by the English and are heartily detested.” TFinally a de-
cision arrived from London. It was favorable, and the
captives found out that it was a piece of good fortune to
have been driven into a Welsh port, for had they landed in
another part of Great Britain, the Virginia Company would,
if possible, have prevented them from getting back to their
native country, as was attempted to be done in the case
of Captain de la Motte a short time after.

The two Jesuits finally left England. By royal com-
mand they were brought in a roundabout way to Sandwich,
or Sanduicts, as Biard writes it, from there to Dover and
from Dover to Calais. They had been nine months in the
hands of the English, The Governor of Calais, the Sieur
d’Arquien, and M. La Baulaye, the dean, received them
kindly and gave them money enough to reach Amiens.

In France they found themselves the center of another
storm.  They were accused of having been the authors of
all the misfortunes that had befallen Acadia; they had led
the ILnglish thither; fomented dissensions among the
French; induced Mme. du Guercheville to abandon Port
Royal, and establish St. Sauveur; and out of personal spite
had compromised the interests of both religion and the
crown,  Potrincourt lodged a formal complaint to that
effect with the Government, and his friend Lescarbot was
particularly active in influencing the public mind by his
“ Derniere Rélation de 1'Histoire de la Nouvelle France.”

To exculpate himself from the charges of Lescarbot,
who was regarded then as a very judicious historian, and
supplied with exact information, but who is discredited by
modern writers, Biard wrote his statement of the case.
Champlain, though angry not only with Mme. de Guerche-
ville for directing her benefactions to Mt. Desert instead
of Quebec, but also with Father Coton for advising her,
came to Biard’s assistance and declared that the Jesuits
always acted according to the strictest equity ; were actuated
by the loftiest spiritual motives and guided by common
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sense.  In fact, the first chapter of his Third Book is a
resumé of Biard's ** Relation.”  His estimate of the Jesuits
at Port Royal and St. Sauveur is more than complimentary.

Thus the first attempt at evangelizing Acadia ended in
disastrous failure. ~ The political fortunes of the colony
were worse. For although young Biencourt built up Port
Royal after Argall's departure, it was only to give a field
for the long fratricidal struggle between de la Tour, Aulnay
and others who fought for mastery in the unhappy country
although they were at the very same time harassed by
repeated incursions of the English from Massachusetts. At
one time two Franciscan friars were said to have been on
a vessel which came over to sustain the cause of de la Tour,
but what they did after reaching Port Royal we have no
means of knowing. That was in the year 1642, nearly
forty years after the original settlement. When the Eng-
lish came into possession of the country, both missionary
work and political rivalry had come to an end.

What became of Biard? When he returned to France
he again taught theology: then we find him famous as a
missionary and finally as a military chaplain. In 1625,
his old companion, Massé, started with de Brébeuf for work
among the Canadian Indians. Biard would naturally have
joined them, but he had died at Avignon, three years before,
shattered and broken by his long life of apostolic labor.
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As you journey up the St. Lawrence from Quebec, the
first object that attracts your attention after you have
satisfied yourself with looking back at the medieval city
on the Rock, is a bold headland on which a graceful church
stands far out on the brow of the hill and high above the
river. Higher still but much farther back in the land is
a splendid conventual establishment half hidden in the
surrounding woods; while on either side, cluster the white
and well kept houses of the ** habitants.” It is Sillery, and,
singularly enough, the church is dedicated to St. Columba,
which would naturally

suggest that there are affectionate
memories of Green LI

n lingering in the neighborhood.
Indeed, if you strayed into the church on a Sunday or holi-
day, you might hear a sermon in either French or English,
for the children of the Celt and the Gaul both kneel around
that altar on the banks of the St. Lawrence.

If you climb the cliff above the point where the little
steamer lands, and stand where the solitary cannon looks
peacefully over the waters, you have a scene before you that
is not only a delight to the eye, but a comfort to the heart for
the multitude of romantic and religious memories that crowd
upon you. Opposite you on the other side of the river is the
Cote de Lauson, the one-time domain of the old seigneur
whose name occurs repeatedly in Canadian history. Near
by, the boiling Chaudiére tumbles into the St. Lawrence;
and lofty Pointe Levis presents itself with its crown of
convents and colleges and churches. Cape Tourmente is a
dozen leagues away to the east, and quite close to you is
Cape Diamond, with a forest of masts at its feet, and on its
summit the citadel and the historic Plains of Abraham,
Between you and it is the fairy-like cove where Wolfe made
the fatal ascent in 1759.
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If you wander down the slope to the lowlands near the
river, you will come after a little space to an ancient dwell-
ing which has stood the storms of two hundred and seventy-
two Canadian winters, but which shows no marks of age.
Indeed, you would take it for a house of one of the well-
to-do people of the neighborhood; yet it is perhaps the
oldest structure in Canada for it was built in 1637, But
it has more than antiquity to commend it. It is all that is
left of the famous establishment founded by the Chevalier
Noé¢l Brulard de Sillery, a Knight of Malta, who after
achieving fame in the world became a priest. He was a
friend of St. Vincent de Paul, and spent a large fortune
in good works, among which was this training school on
the St. Lawrence where it was hoped that the savages
might be taught agriculture and the mechanical arts, and
be thus brought from the forest into the ways of civilization,
In former times a church stood near it, but after many years
it was demolished, and the oldest inhabitants will still tell
vou what a marvelous piece of masonry it was. There,
too, the first Hotel Dieu of Canada was built, but the nuns
left it and fled in terror to Quebee, when one day an Indian
runner came into the settlement carrying a letter written on
a picce of birch bark. Tt was from Father Bressani who
had fixed it to a tree as he was being carried into captivity
by the Mohawks. It conveyed the startling intelligence
that the savages were going to descend on the hospital and
carry off the nuns. A\ sign at the roadside to-day shows
where it once stood.

All these buildings except the residence were virtually
abandoned after the Inglish conquest, but though the
structures are gone, the memories still remain of the
saints who labored there.  De Brébeuf had lived in that
house after his wanderings among the Neutrals along
Lake Erie.  Ménard was the hospital chaplain: and indeed
most of the great martvrs of the northwest had offered
Mass in the chapel, or instructed the neophytes, or had
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come to bid good-bye to their friends before going forth
to die. So that apart from the historical interest with
which the locality is invested, Sillery may be regarded as
one of the sacred places of Canada. All this would prob-
ably be unknown to the ordinary traveller, but were he to
pass by the old residence he would see in front of it, though
on the other side of the road, and nearer the river, a monu-
ment surmounted by a cross.  On a marble slab set in its
base, he would read an inscription in I'rench, telling him
that * the inhabitants of Sillery have erected this monu-
ment to the memory of IFather Enémond Massé, S.J., the
first missionary of Canada, who was buried in 1646 in the
church of St. Michael, which was attached to Residence
of St. Joseph of Sillery.”

This monument was the result of the labors of two
pious and painstaking historiographers, the Abbés Casgrain
and Laverdi¢re who, in 1869, caused excavations to be
made in the ruins of the old church and succeeded in un-
covering all the foundations. They found it to be a struc-
ture of 100 by 37 feet (Irench measure), and to have
been built in the form of a cross, with a hexagonal apse.
Its facade was towards the river; and in the lateral chapel
on the gospel side, they came upon Father Mass¢'s remains,
There could be no possible doubt about their identity, for
he was the only one that was ever buried there.  The
* Journal des Jésuites " informs us that the chapel was not
yet complete when the interment took place.

The people of Sillery were naturally jubilant over this
discovery, and in response to an appeal made haste to
erect the shaft. The corner stone was laid with great
ceremony in 1870, and it was noted that many, not of the
faith, were reverential spectators, The inscription is sig-
nificant, for it calls Mass¢ * the first missionary of Can-
ada,” although two or three other priests had preceded him
in Acadia and Canada. e was born in Lyons, in 1574
or 1575, There is some uncertainty, however, about the
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date, just as there is about his name, which is sometimes
written without the accent.  Thus it appears in Biard's
“Relation ™ and in Charlevoix's and Champlain’s works;
but as Creuxius in his ** Historia Canadensis ™ calls him
Masseus, as do the Catalogues of the Society, we are safe
in writing it Massé and not Masse, though there is another
difficulty in the fact that when he was IFather Coton's
associate at Court, he signed himself de Masso, and com-
plicated the problem still more by prefixing to it Imbertus,
which he discarded afterwards for Enemondus.

He entered the Society on August 25, 1595, when he
was twenty years old. He is said to have been naturally
of a somewhat turbulent disposition, but in the novitiate
he succeeded so well in keeping himself under control that
he passed for having no temper at all. At first there was
some difficulty about admitting him, because of his weak
eyes, but he swept away that obstacle by falling on his
knees and praying so fervently that his sight became per-
fect immediately.  Although he studied philosophy before
becoming a Jesuit, he followed the abbreviated course of
theology in the Society. He was ordained priest in 1603,
and for the five following years filled the posts of minister
and procurator in various houses. Ie was then sent as

Socius to Father Coton, who was court preacher and con-
fessor of Henry IV,

He must have been a man of good manners to have heen
assigned to such a place; but it was doubtless extremely
distasteful to one who had been accustomed from youth
to daily fasts, flagellations, and all sorts of penitential exer-
cises. Iven then he was like a Father of the Desert in
austerity.  Besides, he had always been almost inordinately
fond of self abasement, and when « novice it is said of
himi that while making the usual novitiate pilgrimage, he
was so grieved at being hospitably received by a good
natured priest, that he hegan to pray for a change of dis-
position on the part of his host. The result was that he
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and his companion were unceremoniously thrown out of
doors.  Whether the other novice was consulted before
this prayer was offered we do not know; nor is it certain
that the good curé was fairly treated.

While he was at court there was a call for missionaries
in the new colony of Acadia. At his request he was ap-
pointed for the work. That was in 1608; but it was not
until January 26, 1611, that he and Biard set sail on The
Grace of God for America. The reasons of this long delay
have been already given in the previous biography. The
journey was perilous and hard, for “traveling in such a
small boat and so badly equipped,” wrote Biard, “is an
accumulation of all the hardships and sufferings of life.”
Strong as he was, Father Massé never left his bed for forty
days, but though deathly sick and eating almost nothing
he was anxious to keep Lent, which could scarcely be
allowed in such conditions.  His request, however, reveals
his spiritual temper. They arrived on the 22d of May,
and three weeks afterwards they wrote to Father Aquaviva;
Biard at length, Massé¢ briefly as follows:—

“Very Rev. Father,

“TPax Christi.

“If your Paternity read with pleasure my letter of Oc-
tober 13th, T had still greater happiness in receiving yours
of the 7th of December, the more so as I am the first one
of the Society to receive a letter in Canada from your
Paternity. T regard that as a happy augury, and as a
heavenly incentive to run my course with fervor so as to
merit and receive the reward of the celestial vocation,
and to sacrifice myself more promptly and more completely
for the salvation of this people. I avow to you that T have
said frankly to God, Behold me! If Thou choosest what is
weakest and most miserable in the world to overthrow and
destroy what is strong, Thou shalt find all this in Ene-
mond. Lo! here I am; send me and make my words and
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my tongue speak so that I shall not be a barbarian for those
who hear me.

“Your prayers I am sure will avail for me in this as
they did for our coming here on P'entecost Day. \We are
feeble in Jesus Christ, but we shall live, I hope, in him, in
the strength of God.

I beg your Paternity to obtain by your prayers and holy
sacrifices that the Lord may accomplish all this in us.

“Your unworthy son in Jesus Christ,
* Lnémond Massé, S.].
“Port Royal in New Irance,
“ June 10, 1611.”

Together the two missionaries passed the dreary and un-
fruitful years of their work in Acadia. Both underwent
the same hardships, but a differentiating note between the
two men reveals itself occasionally. Thus, to learn the lan-
guage, Mass¢ took the quickest though hardest method.
He went off to the mouth of the St. John and lived with
the Indians. But in doing so he misjudged his powers of
endurance. Accustomed to hardships though he was, the
life was too much for his strength. Ile fell sick, and
became almost blind because of the anwmic state to which
he was reduced.  But his strength of will sustained him and
perhaps, also, his good humor. For when apparently at
the point of death, the Indian who had built him another
cabin to die in, asked him to write a letter to the Com-
mandant at Port Royal to explair the situation; otherwise
the savages would be accused of murdering him, Massé
refused. “If 1 do that,” he said, ** somebody might kill
me and would then go off to Port Royal with my certificate
of acquittal n his hands.” * Well then,” said the Indian,
*“ pray to Jesus to cure you." * I am doing so,” replied the
In spite of the hor

priest, *and I am not going to die
rible privations to which he was subject he recovered, and
after a while started for the colony. Just as Diard was
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returning from an unsuccessful hunt along the coast in
search of him, for he had not been heard of for four
months, Mass¢ arrived, happy to have suffered a good deal
and to have at least helped some dying people and babies
to go to heaven,

Winter came and with it starvation. The colonists lost
what little energy they possessed, possibly because they were
unfitted for the work, or possibly because their physical
strength was gone, though they were a shiftless lot at best,
and contented themselves with passing their time mostly
in their huts, lounging about the fire.  To Massé this sloth
was intolerable, and he determined to build a boat and go
out and hunt for food. He knew nothing at all of the
trade of ship-building, but he was a handy man with tools,
and he set to work. He could induce only one man to help
him.  The rest looked on and laughed at his clumsy efforts;
but little by little the craft took shape, and was sufficiently
calked with shreds of cordage, soaked with the gum which
he scraped from the trees, and was finally launched and
succeeded in keeping afloat. Biard, of course, toiled with
him, though he good humoredly wrote: * I could only give
the boat my benediction.”  Such was only one of the many
instances of the lack of energy and initiative that character-
ized those Acadian colonists who had come out to found
an empire. They were sitting idly on the sea shore without
a boat in which to go out on the water except perhaps some
wretched canoe which they had bought from the Indians.
They were starving, though there was plenty of game in
the woods if they would only hunt for it.

The two missionaries embarked in their miserable craft
and went up and down the shore in search of food. They
soon returned not only with a plentiful supply of roots and
acorns, but with an abundance of fish which there was no
difficulty in catching. Their boat-load was welcome, for
there was not a morsel of food left in the colony's store-
house. Finally La Saussaye arrived with orders for the
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priests to leave, so bidding farewell to Port Royal they
sailed across the bay to Mt. Desert. The issue of that ill-
fated expedition we know. Both Massé and Biard did their
best to restrain the English marauders in the havoc that
they were making of the colony, and with some measure of
success. They were courteously treated by Argall, and it
was their protest, as we have seen, that prevented him from
putting all the Frenchmen in an open boat and turning them
adrift on the high seas, to go to what was certain death.
Instead of thirty, fourteen Irenchmen were stowed away
in a miserable old shallop, and the rest were carried off to
Virginia.

Before starting out the crew asked for one of the priests
to go with them, and when Argall inquired which one they
wanted they all clamored for Massé; an evident sign of
his popularity as against that of his companion. On that
day he and Biard bade good-bye to each other, not knowing
if they should ever meet again. The shallop sailed away,
with the commander, La Saussaye, as one of the company.
Unfortunately there were only two or three sailors in the
boat, and they knew nothing of the coast and had neither
chart nor compass. But a kind Providence was watching
over them. Just before Argall had reached St. Sauveur,
La Saussaye's pilot had started out to discover the character
of the ship that was making for the harbor. By the time
he had made out the English flag on the peak it was too
late to return, so he and his men steered their boat to the
shore, and kept in concealment until the fight was over.
Argall was aware of their absence and lingered a long time
after the capture of the colony to lay hands on them, but
without avail, though from time to time the pilot himself
appeared among his friends disguised as an Indian.  Just
as the shallop was leaving the harbor, an Indian was seen
signalling to them. Tt was the pilot and they received him
on board with «]t']if(]ll.

They steered in a northerly direction, and first reached
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the Grand Menan. They had intended to start thence for
Long Island, over what was a perilous stretch of ten leagues
of open sea, just where the tide of the Bay of Fundy rushes
furiously in to the land. But the weather was too bad to
attempt it for nine successive days, and they spent that
time praying fervently for a clear sky. It came at last
and they made Long Island in safety, where they erected
a cross in thanksgiving, celebrated Mass, and went in proces-
sion along the shore. That stopping place was at the end
of St. Mary's Bay, below the present Digby. They found
there a supply of salt, and to add to their good luck they
succeeded in making a fine haul of fish for which the salt
came in very handy. It is distressing to find that after their
arrival in France, Potrincourt appealed to the courts against
the Jesuits who robbed him of the salt which he had left
on that desolate island. Thus with plenty of fish in their
locker they continued on their way, and landed at Cape
Forchu.  They had already travelled well down the coast
of Nova Scotia, and had reached the place where now stands
the present town of Yarmouth. They had avoided going
into Port Royal, for very likely they would have been
seized and imprisoned by Biencourt.

At Cape Forchu they met Louis Membertou, the Indian,
in whose wigwam Massé had spent four hard months en-
deavoring to learn the native language. The welcome was
very cordial and the priest was invited to leave his white
friends and go off with the red men. There were many
reasons why the offer could not be accepted, one of which
was that Biencourt was too close at hand; another, which
was more than sufficient, viz: the Frenchmen might be
wrecked before they found a ship and would sorely need a
priest. In spite of the refusal, however, Membertou gave
them a feast and furnished them also with a plentiful supply
of moose which kept them alive till they doubled Cape
Sable.  Keeping along the coast they arrived at Port
Mouton, where some more Indians came out to meet them.
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They had just been trading with the whites and had a supply
of bread which they shared with the wanderers. With
wonderful liberality they gave a loaf to the priest, says the
* Relation,” and half a one to each of the others. ** It was
the world upside down. Indians giving bread to the
French and getting nothing in return. The bread was like
manna for us, because three weeks had elapsed since we
had tasted a crumb. To add to our joy they told us that
there were two French vessels not far away, one at Seza-
more and the other at Passapec.  We bade our Indian
friends good-bye and hurried as fast as we could so as not
to miss the ships.” The distance nevertheless was consider-
able, for though Sezamore and Passepec are no longer on
the maps, we find on Charlevoix’s chart two places called
Sincembre and Prospec, which doubtless are the same as
the present Sambro and Prospect not far from the present
Halifax.

The wanderers found the ships; one of them only fifty
tons burden; but the other twice as large. It was called
The Savior. The smaller one was in command of Du
Pont the young Frenchman who a few years before had
taken to the wild life of the woods to escape the vengeance
of Potrincourt, and had been finally reconciled to the Gov-
ernor of the colony by the entreaties of Biard and Massé.
Du Pont’s vessel started out first and had a rough passage
of it all the way over. The Savior did not leave America
until twelve days later, but though it encountered heavy
seas, it overtook its companion and they both entered the
harbor of St. Malo together. Good weather had come to
them when twin St. Elmo fires appeared in the rigging.
For the sailors it was the harbinger of a calm. A quarter
of an hour passed and the sky was clear.

The failure in Acadia was of course a disaster, but in
one respect it may be regarded as providential, inasmuch
as it drove Massé back to France, and made him virtually
the creator of a greater enterprise: the Missions of Canada.

o8




ENEMOND MASSE

The year after his arrival he was appointed Vice Rector
of the Royal College of La Fléche, and thus was thrown
into intimate association with a number of men whose names
as we read them on the college register seem like a master
roll of Canada’s most illustrious heroes. Paul Le Jeune
was there and Bartholomew Vimont, and Anne de Noué,
and Charles Lalemant, and I'rancis Ragueneau, and Isaac
Jogues, and René Ménard with others whose names we
omit.  When these future apostles gathered around Massé,
and listened to his stories of the western world their imag-
inations took fire, and they were all eager to emulate his
example. He, of course, fanned the flame, and possibly
he did so even when he did not speak, for splendid though
his position was at La Fleche and implying in its incumbent
unusual qualities of mind and heart, he was pining away
for his savages, and there was no happier man in the world
than he when the word came that he was to resume his
interrupted work.

How that result was brought about is revealed by a
document found among his posthumous papers, It is given
in the “ Relation” of 1646, It begins with a rhapsody
about “ mon cher Canada which is so lovable and adorable
in its crosses and whose conversion can only be undertaken
by those who have on them the stigmata of the cross. To
obtain the needed qualification it will be helpful for me,”
he writes, *“ to keep the following resolutions:

Ist. Never to sleep except on bare ground, without sheets
or mattress, which, however, must be kept in the room so
that no one may know what is being done.

2d. Not to wear linen except around the neck.

3d. Never to say Mass without a hair-shirt, in order to
make me think of the sufferings of my Master of which
the Holy Sacrifice is the great memorial,

4th. To take the discipline daily.

5th. Never to take dinner unless T have first made my
examen, and if prevented to eat only a dessert.
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6th. Never to gratify my taste.

7th. To fast three times a week, but so that no one will
know it.”

The eighth is to punish any uncharitable word that might
escape his lips.  Those lips were made to pay a penalty
which we prefer to omit.

As some of the members of the La Fléche community
were at the end of the year transferred to Clermont in Paris,
they interested in the Canadian Missions the famous Dre-
tesche, who was the Spiritual IFather of the house. He hap-
pened to be at that time the confessor of the Duke de Ven-
tadour, and it was he who urged that dignitary to have
himself appointed Viceroy of New IFrance so as to check
the Calvinist traders of Quebec, who were opposed to the
conversion of the Indians. While negotiations were pend-
ing, Bretesche died, and Father Noyrot became the noble-
man's counsellor,  Just when Ventadour was named, the
Recollects asked the Jesuits for help. The response was
immediate, and on June 19th, 1625, Massé, de Brébeuf,
de Noué and Charles Lalemant set out for Canada.

It was Mass¢ who built the first Jesuit residence in Can-
ada: Notre Dame des Anges, and when Lalemant had to
return to France he was left in charge of the mission; an
office intended only to last for two or three months, but which
lengthened out into two or three vears. During that time
disasters began to multiply. Kirke had sailed up the St.
Lawrence to demand the surrender of the city.  De Brébeuf
was recalled from the mission among the Hurons, and in
1629 the French flag was hauled down from the citadel,
and Recollects, Jesuits, and nearly all the colonists went

back to France. It was Mass¢'s second failure,

He was sent to La Fléche where he had been five years
before.  Although it seemed hoping for the impossible, he
again resumed his appeals for the American missions. As
before, he enkindled an enthusiasm in all the Jesuit houses,

and spread it outside to such an extent that religious com-
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‘ munities offered their good works and watched all night
praying before the Blessed Sacrament that the work of
evangelizing the Indians might in some way or other begin
again. At last, after many a diplomatic delay Canada was
given back to France, and in 1633 Mass¢ again stood on the
vessel at the side of de Brébeuf, and on the 8th of June,
after a tempestuous passage, landed with Champlain at
Quebec.

He was then nearly sixty vears of age.  As he was, more-
over, exhausted by his life of penance and hardship he
could not be sent to the Hurons, but the Montagnais along
the river were the objects of his solicitude; and also
on account of his skill in mechanical works the construc-
tion of various buildings was entrusted to him.  He
repaired Notre Dame des Anges, which the IEnglish had
almost wrecked; he supervised the erection of the college
at Quebec, and also the hospital, residence, and church at
Sillery.

These material occupations, however, did not interfere
! with his being the favorite confessor of the colonists up

to the last year of his life. Tt was then that he was inscribed
in the catalogue as senex, an old man who had ceased from
his labors,  That was in 1645, and he had reached the age
of seventy-one.  The end had come and he went over to
Sillery where on May 12, 1646, he breathed his last. * He
was a man of many trades,” says Ragueneau, ** but in none
so skilful as in that of saving souls.”
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CHAPTER I

EArLY LiIrFe.

John de Brébeuf has not been canonized by the Church,
but he is enshrined in the hearts of all those who know his
tragic story. For them he is a hero, a saint and a martyr.
In Canada especially, the cult is positive and pronounced. '
There is a niche awaiting his statue in the splendid fagade
of the Government buildings at Quebec, and his name sur-
rounded with the laurels of victory is inscribed in letters
of gold on the grand staircase leading to the Legislative
Chambers. At the Hotel Dieu, the nuns are busy, at cer-
tain seasons, showing tourists the precious reliquary in
which they guard the remains of the great missionary, and
they will tell you, if you ask them, that the 16th of March,
the anniversary of his death, has, ever since 1650, been a
Communion day in the convent.

A street is named after him in Montreal, and a splendid
painting on the walls of the cathedral depicts his martyr-
dom.  But perhaps the most notable tribute is recorded by
the author of the “ History of the Early Missions of Can-
ada,” who tells us that he saw in the Ritualist Church of
St. Martin's, Brighton, England, “ a figured window to the
memory of Father de Brébeuf,” in which he appears in
his priestly robes with an aurcola upon his head. At his
feet is a miniature map of Huronia,  Such a representation,
of course, would not be permitted in a Catholic Church
prior to an official pronouncement of the Sovereign Pontiff }
on the heroicity of his life and the reason of his death;
but the error goes to show the extent of the veneration
paid him.  There is a sort of a compromise picture in the
splendid church of Our Lady, in Guelph, Ontario, where a
great illuminated window in the transept represents the
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saints of the Society of Jesus. In the foreground stand
de Brébeuf, Lalemant, and Jogues.  All the others have
illuminated halos; whereas there is only a black circle
over the heads of the American heroes. They are waiting
for their glorification.

One is not surprised to hear that there were crusaders
among de Drébeuf's forbears. Indeed, it would rot be
hard to conceive the hero himself in complete armor scaling
the walls of Damietta where his ancestors distinguished
themselves under the banner of St. Louis.  That would have
been a trifle for such as he. It is also claimed that some of
his kin went over to England with William the Conqueror
and not only fought in the battle of Hastings, but were
allied to the Howards and Arundels, whose names are iden-
tified with English Catholicity.  Guillaume du Hamel,
Auwmonier et Consciller du Roi who wrote a dissertation on
La Pharsale, a poem by a grandnephew of the martyr, is
the authority for the assertion. Both Boileau and Voltaire
condemned the poem as being of slight literary value, but
left unchallenged the claim of the author’s illustrious
descent.

Naturally one would desire to admit the kinship, but it
requires a great deal of good will to trace a family con-
nection between de Brébeuf and the Howards and Arundels
of to-day. It is true that in the Battle Abbey List of the
Norman Knights who came over with William the Con-
queror, which is given by Augustin Thierry in his * Con-
quéte de T'Angleterve,” in the * Pieces Justificatives ™ at
the end of Volume [-11, the name of Braybuf occurs.  There
are also an (Eil de Doecuf, and a Front de Boeuf,—the
latter heing probably Walter Scott’s unpleasant hero—and
a host of others with names so whimsical that even the
IFrench chroniclers of those days had great sport with them.,
In the same catalogue there is found the name of Arundel,
and in one by Leland, taken from the ** Collectanea de rebus
britannicis,” (ed. Hearne Vol. I, p. R06), is that of How-
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arde, which may perhaps suggest a doubt about the Saxon
origin of that family, but how the de Brébeufs were united
with the Arundels, and yet had their name so completely
eliminated in succeeding generations we must leave to gene-
alogical experts to determine.

As for the Howard element in the puzzle we are dispensed
from following it, until nearly four hundred years after
the conquest.  IFrom Thierry and Lingard and other author-
ities it appears that the first holder of the title of Norfolk
was Raulf de Gael, a Breton, who, though the chief insti-
gator of the invasion, quarrelled with William and was
relieved of his honors which then passed over to Bigot.
Under Edward I, the title reverted to the Crown, and was
conferred on the king’s son, Thomas Plantagenet de
Brotherton.  Finally in default of heirs. John Howard,
who was descended from de Brotherton by the mother's
side, was made Duke of Norfolk by Richard III, whose
cause he espoused, and with whom he subsequently fell on
Bosworth field.

Hence the blood of de Brébeuf must be extremely atten-
uated, if there is any at all in the Howard family. But he
did not need the connection to add to his glory. Indeed,
while he was working for the Church in America, the
descendants of his Norman ancestors were doing their best
to extirpate the FFaith in England.  The Jesuit Garnet had
just been dragged to the gallows as the result of the Gun-
Powder Plot; Buckingham had rallied the Puritans of Iing-
land to the rescue of the Protestant Normans of France;
Archbishop Laud had formulated laws ** against all priests
and harborers of priests, as well as against all persons who
had papistical books or were suspected of having them
present at Mass; ™ and four years after de Brébeuf was
slain in Huronia, Oliver Cromwell, as Lingard tells us,
“was cager to gain the goodwill of the godly by shedding
the blood of the priests.”  Thus had history turned a somer-
sault, and de Brébeuf might have gained martyrdom by
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simply crossing the Channel instead of the Ocean; but
America needed a saint.

About his early life very little is known. Even the place
of his birth was for a long time a subject of dispute. Fel-
ler, Pluquet, and the * Missions Catholiques” of 1877,
basing their conclusions on the * Relation ” of 1649, pro-
nounced for Bayeux, while Father Martin and some others
ventured to surmise that it was Condé-sur-Vire. A bap-
tismal record would have settled the question, but a labor-
ious search in the archives of the Department, resulted in
showing that the registers did not go farther back than the
last years of the sixteenth century. The quest was about
to be abandoned when the * Primus Catalogus Provincie
Francie,” 1618-19 was discovered which established the
claim of Condé-sur-Vire. As this “ Catalogus Primus " is
the list which the individual members of the Society fill out
every three years for transmission to Rome, its authority
is beyond question. In it we find, in de Brébeuf's own hand-
writing: “ Pater Joannes de Brébeuf, natus Condwi, 25
Mars 1593, in dioéc. Baioc.,” The abbreviation * dioéc.
Baioc,” means the diocese of Bayeux, and the only Condé
in that district is Condé-sur-Vire, It is a difficult place to
find on the map, for it is only a village or commune of about
3,000 souls, but it is situated in the Department of La

Manche, about five n from St. Lo. De Brébeuf as far
as we know gave it the only distinction it ever enjoyed,
but that is sufficient ‘o glorify a much larger place.

What he did here he was, prior to his becoming a
Jesuit is yet to be discovered. We know that he had

already made a two years course of ‘literature, and had
studied philosophy for the same period, but whether or not
it was a preparation for the priesthood must be left to
conjecture. At all events he bade good-bye to the world
and presented himself at the Novitiate of Rouen, November
8, 1617. He was then twenty-four years of age. This
Novitiate was the second which the Society had established
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in France, and it nearly missed going there, which would
have been regrettable, for Rouen gave many a glorious
man to the Order. Besides, as it was a stronghold of Cal-
vinism, it needed all the orthodoxy it could get to strengthen
its faith.

The story of its foundation is that one day Henry IV
conversing with Father Coton, grew enthusiastic about the
great number of Jesuit Colleges he was going to establish
all over France. Coton, however, cooled his ardor by rep-
resenting to him that it was impossible to obtain profes-
sors to supply them all. ** What can we do to get them?”
said the King. “ Found Novitiates,” was the reply. * So
far, we have only one in France and that is in Aquitaine,
which is very remote from the centre of the kingdom.”
“Why can we not have one at La Fléche? " inquired the
monarch, “in connection with the college we are building
there? ”  The proposition was acceded to, but as the funds
were already giving out even for the college at La Fléche,
it looked as if the scheme for a Novitiate would be delayed
indefinitely. Meantime, without being aware of what was
in prospect, the Countess d'Aubigny and several of her
friends proposed to the king to establish a house at Rouen;
the foundress giving 10,000 livres for the purchase of the
house and 600 for an annual revenue; the others contribu-
ting according to their resources.  The proposition was
gladly accepted, and in 1604 the Novitiate of Rouen was
founded. Tt was only thirteen years in existence when de
Brébeuf arrived at its gates.

One naturally inquires if he met there any of the men
who became afterwards conspicuous in the work of the
American missions. A search through the old catalogues
shows us that he was too late and too early to have that
happiness.  Vimont, his future superior at Quebec, had been
there four years before, and Buteux, the martyr of the
St. Maurice, came the year after de Brébeuf had been as-
signed to college work. Raymbault, the first Jesuit to die
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in Canada, also arrived later, as did Daniel, who was to be

~a martyr a year before de Brébeuf. Jogues did not enter
till seven years later. In the noviceship, de Brébeuf, of
course, stood for the rigor of the law in its application to
himself. * 1 will be ground to powder,” he used to say,
“rather than break a rule.” His seli-effacement, which
was also one of his characteristics till the end, likewise
declared itself in the Novitiate. He not only sought the
most humiliating tasks, but entreated his superiors to let
him become a lay-brother. He urged the request again
when about to pronounce his vows, and the proposition was
duly considered, but a negative answer was given. This
wise decision was a blessing for the Church, and ensured
a great future.

At the end of his noviceship he had reached the age of
twenty-six, and was consequently too old for the review
of the clas and he was therefore sent to the college in
the same city, and given a class of lower grammar.  But the
difficult student youth proved too much for him.  He col-
lapsed completely after two years, and in the catalogue of
1622 we find this ominous entry: “ F. de Brébeuf ob in-
firmam valetudinem non occupatus; ™ nothing to do on ac-
count of ill health. Ile was then twenty-cight years of
age, and it looked as if he had been right in his aspirations
to be a lay brother. DBut he did not lose heart. He re-
viewed his moral theology privately, passed his examina

tions and was ordained a priest. Of dogmatic theology
this great apostle does not seem to have studied a single
chapter, at least in the Society. Still he knew enough to
solve the difficulties of the sorcerers and the sachems who
sat around him at the council fires near Lake Huron.
He was ordained sub-deacon at Lisieux in the month of
September, 1621, deacon in the same year at Bayeux, and
priest the vear following at Pontoise or Pontisarce, as the
Latin has it.  The date of his priesthood however is dis-
puted. Father Martin said he was ordained on the anni-
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versary of his birth, March 25, 1623. But there are two
great difficulties about accepting that date; first—we have

1 in de Brébeuf's own handwriting “ die Virginis Annuntiate
L, primum sacrum Deo obtuli,” that is, he said his first Mass
J on the day of the Annunciation, which of course is not the

same as ordination. Second—Unless the calendars are all
astray, March 25, 1623 was Good Friday, which would
make both his ordination and first Mass impossible. The
mistake was apparently caused by taking the date of his
ordination from the catalogue of 1623, and not adverting
to what Father Martin knew as well as any one else, that it
recorded the arrangements of the previous year. Now in the
catalogue of 1623, de Brébeuf is inscribed as a priest, and
therefore must have been ordained in 1622, All this may
look like too minute an inquiry into details, but dates are
precious things in history, and ordination to the priesthood
was of course the most important event in the life of an
apostle.

As for the places identified with him, Condé-sur-Vire is,
as we have said, only a village, and all we can know is that
he was most likely baptized in the parish church. There
could have been only one there, but whether or not it still
exists we are unable to say. Tt is also difficult to obtain
much information about the novitiate and College of Rouen,
for after the suppression of the Society the novitiate be-
came a Bureau de Mendicité, an alms house office, and sub-
sequently a prison and a barracks. New streets have heen
cut through the grounds so that identification would he well
nigh impossible.  As for the college, it was appropriated
by the Government and is now a Lycée with 1000 students,
Lisieux, where he was ordained subdeacon, is in the valley
of the Orbec and Touques. In de Brébeuf's time it was
an episcopal town, and there was annexed to the cathedral
a Lady Chapel, built as an expiatory offering by a former
bishop, who is known to history as Pierre Cauchon, one
of the Judges who condemned Joan of Arc. Perhaps de
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Brébeuf was ordained there and had a premonition of his
own death at the stake. But of course that is only fancy.
The Bayeux cathedral where he probably received deacon-
ship is, of course, known to the tourist, but Pontoise, where
he was ordained a priest is a puzzle. It had no cathedral,
for Pontoise was in the Diocese of Bayeux, and we ask
in vain did the great event take place in the beautiful St.
Maclou, or the collegiate church, or possibly in some little
out of the way chapel in one of the steep and narrow
streets of the town? In any case one would like to know
what brought him down there for ordination? We have no
information on that point, and must satisfy ourselves by
blaming the carelessness of the chronicler. However, no
one could have foretold that the levite kneeling in his white
robes at the altar in obscure Pontoise would later on wear
the red robes of a martyr. Ilis elevation to the priesthood
coincided with, if it did not bring about his complete restora-
tion to health. He was not asked to go back to the class
room, but was made procurator or bursar of the college;
an occupation which threw him officially into the midst
of the first of the storms that swept over his life.

An unworthy priest of a little place near Dieppe, who
had been condemned to be broken on the wheel for his
crimes, devised a plan while in prison to distract the atten-
tion of the public and to save himself from death. e ac-
cused the Jesuits of plotting the assassination of King Louis
XIII.  As Henry 1V had been murdered a few years be-
fore, and as the Jesuits had heen charged with the crime,
in spite of the fact that Henry was their greatest bene-
factor, and that they had everything to lose by his death,
the new accusation was seriously considered, and the country
was thrown into a great state of excitement about it. The
Huguenots took it up, and the sky looked very dark for
the Society. The Parliament at Rouen whose enmity had
never been concealed, officially entertained the charge, im-
prisoned FFather Chappuis, the Superior of the Residence, as
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well as Father Guyot and a lay-brother who were supposed
to be the chief conspirators.

De Brébeuf was hurried off to Paris to advise the Pro-
vincial of the situation. As Father Coton had been the
confessor of Henry IV, and still exercised great influence
at the court, he betook himself immediately to the King
and had the case transferred to the royal tribunal. The
accusation was examined and dismissed; and the unfor-
tunate priest confessed that he had trumped up the charge
to save himself. This was de Brébeuf's first opportunity
to observe at close range the difficulties he was to encounter
at the other end of the world. The Huguenots who were
trying their best to rule or ruin the mother country were
doing the same in its American colony.

Champlain had founded Quebec in 1608, and from that
time until Kirke drove him out, the Calvinist merchants
who had absorbed the entire trade of the new possessions
caused more trouble than all the savages from Gaspé to
Lake Huron. The story is one of the commonplaces of
history, for it is known how after the failure of the Acadian
project, Champlain induced Prince Henri de Bourbon to
finance the new enterprise on the St. Lawrence, and how a
company was founded of which Champlain was to be in
absolute control.  But the Prince died before his plans were
perfected, and the new organization fell into the hands of
the famous Condé who reorganized it, but very unwisely
withdrew from Champlain the controlling interest, making
him only an ordinary member, and giving shares to any of
the merchants of Rouen, Havre, St. Malo and La Rochelle
who might desire to embark in the enterprise. It was stip-
ulated that only the Catholic religion should be allowed in
Canada, and that the missions to the natives should be sub-
sidized by the traders. As most of them were Calvinists,
the result might have been anticipated. It was either an
amazing (:ust in human nature, or a cynical unconcern about
the religious welfare of the aborigines.
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Champlain informs us that in 1608, he asked the Jesuits
to accept the task of evangelizing Canada, but that they
refused.  They did not care to deliver themselves up into
the hands of their enemies, and besides they were already
struggling with the problem of Acadia. In 1614 the offer
was made to the Recollects, who eagerly accepted it; for
was it not set down in the bond that six of their number
were to be supported by the company ; and had not the car-
dinals and the bishops of the States General handed them
1,500 livres for the purchase of portable chapels, vest-
ments and the like? They left Honfleur, April 24, 1615,
and on June 25, according to ¥Ferland, * inaugurated the
Catholic Faith in Canada, when in their poor little chapel
the colonists assisted for the first time at the Hnly Mass
on the banks of the St. Lawrence.”  The description is pic-
turesque, but incorrect; for it implies, of course, that the
faith was not inaugurated in Canada, when Cartier’s chap-
‘ain said Mass all through the winter of 1536, on the banks
of the St. Charles, or when Massé¢ and Biard built their
altar at Port Royal and St. Sauveur,

But that is only a trifle; the missionaries immediately
addressed themselves to the task of converting the Indians.
D'Olbean buried himself among the Montagnais, and Le
Caron journeyed to Georgian Bay, and became the first
apostle of the Turons.  But the friars soon discovered that
they had been too guileless in trusting their alleged friends
in Quebec, who as Champlain assures us had no desire of
converting the natives at all Indeed they were bitterly
adverse to it, for it was a detriment to business, the result
heing that when an Indian ceased to be a hunter, he dimin-
ished by so much the company's revenues. The only pur-
pose the traders had in view was to get peltries, and hence
not only were the savages left in their heathenism, and all
attempts to settle them in villages discouraged, but nothing
was done even for the white settlers, or the defense of the
colony.  Quebec was to be a trading post and nothing else,
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and hence the fields were unploughed and the fort was
falling to pieces. Champlain stormed and entreated but
without avail,

Over and over again the Recollects returned to France
to protest against the existing conditions. Condé would
not or could not apply a remedy. Indeed, he was a political
prisoner part of the time.  Finally he handed over his rights
to the Duke de Montmorency, but the new incumbent re-
garded the appointment merely as a source of revenue with
no consequent obligations.  Nevertheless he made a feeble
effort at reform and reorganized the company, but appar-
ently influenced by the religious indifference of the time,
he put at the head of it two Calvinists, Guillaume and Eméry
de Caén, who of course merged the new concern with the
old corporation, so that the last state was worse than the
first.  Not knowing where to turn, the Recollects bethought
themselves of the Jesuits, who, according to the popular
superstition, were supposed to be possessed of inexhaust-
ible revenues, or were at least able to put their hands in
the pockets of their friends. Sixteen years had passed,
and nothing had been accomplished either for the colonists
or the savages, and so the Recollects, Father Piat and
Brother Sagard, begged the Jesuit Provincial Father Coton
to undertake the work.

Ever since the destruction of St. Sauveur at Mount
Desert, Fathers Biard and Massé had been keeping alive
the enthusiasm of the French Jesuits for the Canadian
missions, and so the appeal of the Recollects met a ready
response. It was first determined, however, to get rid of
the existing Director of the Trading Company, and for that
purpose, de Lévis, the Duke de Ventadour, was induced
to buy out de Montmorency's interest in the concern. The
purchase was made, and as de Ventadour was not only a
man of fervent piety but a sort of lay missionary, he did
not wait for the associates to fulfil their obligations, but
promised to support six of the missionaries.
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Four Jesuits immediately set out. At the head of them
was Lalemant, who was then Principal of Interns of the
College of Clermont, and who, unlike his superiors, judged
himself unfit for such civilized work. ~ With him were
Enémond Massé, who a few years before had been set
adrift in an open boat on the wild "Atlantic, when the
English destroyed St. Sauveur; John de Brébeuf, who was
to achieve greater things than all the others was also of
the company, and a Jesuit lay-brother named Buret. The
distinguished Recollect, of whom Champlain speaks with
the greatest enthusiasm, Joseph de la Roche d’Aillon, also
joined the party. They set sail on April 24, 1625, on the
stout Protestant ship owned by Guillaume de Caen, and
reached Quebec on June 19th of the same year.




CHAPTER IL
Up THE OTTAWA.

We have no details of how the ocean treated the mission-
aries on the way over. In the best of times, the passage
was always accompanied with great suffering; but in this
instance, if the travelers escaped the tempests of the deep,
they encountered a wild political storm when they entered
the St. Lawrence.

Before their coming, the acting Governor, Emery de Caen,
had excited the colonists against the Jesuits by circulating
the libellous pamphlet called “ Anti-Coton,” which had
caused great commotion in the mother country, and could
be trusted to do the same at Quebec. It succeeded to a
certain extent, and when the ship dropped anchor before
the city, de Brébeuf and his companions were forbidden to
land. In view of what a journey over the ocean meant in
those days, the order was one of the greatest inhumanity.
But the faithful friars stood by their friends. They took
the obnoxious missionaries off the vessel in defiance of
the governor, and sheltered them in the Recollect convent
on the St. Charles. That act of kindness has never been
forgotten.

After a while de Caen grew ashamed of the part he had
taken, and granted the outcasts a strip of territory on the
banks of the Lairet, a little tributary of the St. Charles.
The place was most acceptable, first because it was an official
recognition of their presence, and secondly because Jacques-
Cartier had wintered on that very spot, ninety years before,
with his scurvy-stricken sailors, and had sanctified the whole
neighborhood with prayers and pilgrimages while waiting
to be freed from the grip of the ice.

It is to be regretted that even now this most interesting
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and historical site is so difficult of access, for until recently,
at least, the sordid surroundings were scarcely in keeping
either with the beauty of the monument erected there, or
with the heroism it commemorates,

The Jesuits dedicated their Residence to Notre Dame des-
Anges, and the name now extends to that entire district
of the suburbs of Quebee.  The house itself was not much
to boast of, though Champlain admired it. It was about
forty feet long, and a little over thirty wide. It had four
rooms; the first of which was of course the chapel; the
second the refectory, which served at the same time for a
sleeping room.  There were two other apartments with two
beds in each; while a sort of garret provided for an over-
flow. * Such,” says Parkman, * was the cradle of the
American Missions.”  Topographers in quest of relics may
be interested to know that it stood about two hundred paces
from the river,

The herculean strength of de Brébeuf would naturally
have come into requisition for the erection of this shelter,
but he was studying IHuron night and day, and besides,
something more immediately apostolic than felling timbers
and driving stakes presented itself. A party of Hurons
had arrived at a trading post on the St. Lawrence near the
present Sorel. It was called Cape Victory, because of a
successful battle which Champlain had fought there against
the savages. It had also a more suggestive name: Pointe
au Massacre.  Many an Iroquois had been slaughtered
there.  Thither de Brébeuf and and d'Aillon betook them-
selves, expecting to meet the Recollect Father Viel with
the Hurons, but he never came.  TTe had heen murdered and
his body flung into the rapids of the Back River, north
of the Tsland of Montreal.  The place has ever since been
known as Sault au Recollet

On the horders of the stream to-day stands the heautiful
convent of the Ladies of the Sacred Heart, and further
down, but not on the river bank is the Jesuit Novitiate, the
8
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spiritual birthplace of the Canadian as well as of the older
generation of the New York Jesuits,

De Brébeuf and d’Aillon heard with feelings of regret,
and perhaps with some little envy, of the fate of Viel.
They would gladly have exchanged places with him. DBut
at the same time they doubted if they were warranted, in
the then excited state of the savage mind, to rush into the
same danger. Great saints are not rash, and it was there-
fore deemed proper, after doing everything possible for
the Indians at Cape Victory, to wait for better times; and
s0 in sadness and sorrow they turned their bark canoe down
the stream to Quebec.

Though bitterly disappointed, de Brébeuf determined to
make up for this defeat.  Winter was coming on, and
the Algonquins were setting out on their annual hunting
expedition, and so, on October 25, 1625, he disappeared
with them in the woods, living in the filth and vermin of
their tepees, travelling with them in quest of game over the
ice and snow, sustaining himself on their disgusting fare,
or starving with them*when there was nothing to eat.  For
some time he was unable to utter an intelligible word in their
language, and was mocked at and ridiculed for his blunders,
or for the foul expressions they put in his mouth, but he
kept at his self imposed task until the spring thaws drove
the Indians back to the St. Lawrence. He had been five
months away, and at the end of Holy Week, March 27,
1626, he dragged himself back weary and exhausted to
Notre Dame des Anges. e had not converted any In-
dians but he had learned their language; not indeed Turon,
which he was particularly anxious to master: hut \lgon-
quin.  Nevertheless that would be of service in one way
or another later on.  Tn the midst of the terrible hardships
of that winter he had even composed an Algonquin gram-
mar and dictionary: and, what was still hetter, he had
softened the hearts of the savages, who were beginning to
understand his motives and to like and admire him,

)
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That summer his beloved Hurons came again to Cape
Victory, and he was busy among them imploring to be taken
to their country. They alleged many reasons against it,
cmong others the rather humorous one, that a man of his
bulk would double up, or upset any canoe he might step into.
If the objection was serious, we can estimate de Brébeuf's
stature. He must have towered above any savage in the
tribe.  However, by lavishing presents on them he suc-
ceeded in gaining their consent, and at last to his great
delight found himself paddling up the Ottawa. He saw
for the first time the Rideau I7alls, the cataract that in
those days came down like a silver gauze from the rocks
above, forming regular folds as it descended, and then
breaking into a fringe of foam as it sunk into the torrent
below. The fancy of the travellers likened it to a curtain,
and hence the name which it still retains. It has now lost
its former beauty. A few miles further up he heard the
roar of the Chaudicre, the torrent that tumbles from the
rocks, sixty feet above, into the semicircular gulf which it
has been digging for centuries in the basin at its feet, where
as in a cauldron, the seething waters boil and foam in their
furious struggle to leap into the river below.

Superstition has woven its web of weird fancies around
the Chaudiere.  In the minds of the Indians a demon dwelt
in its caves, and as many a canoe had been hurled over its
edge the malignant spirit had to be propitiated. \With
feelings of pity and no doubt of proper curiosity, de Brébeuf
watched his future neophvtes performing the solemn cere-
monies prescribed for such occasions.  In the midst of a
circle of braves stood the chief. Tn his outstretched hands
he held a bark dish heaped high with tobacco, for the devil
was sadly addicted to the weed: his humor depending on
the supply, which reveals a trait of the human in the ghost.
Finally, when all had contributed their quota, the dish
was solemnly placed on the ground and then interminable
speeches were made recounting the dangers of the Falls,
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and rehearsing the names of those who owed their safety
to the reverence accorded to this old tobacco fiend. Gro-
tesque dances and gloomy incantations of course followed,
and when the muscles and eloquence of the Indians gave
out, the chief took up the dish and walking carefully to
the edge of the precipice dropped the contents into the
waters amid the shouts and yells of the satisfied Hurons.
The journey was then resumed.

All this picturesqueness, of course, has long since de-
parted with the advent of civilization.  The sluices and
slides and sheds of commerce now crown the Chaudiére
instead of its former fierce rocks and forbidding forests.
It is the western boundary of the City of Ottawa. The
climatic conditions, also, must have changed since olden
times, for late in November 1908, there was not enough
water tumbling over the Chaudi¢re to turn the turbines of
the factories. There were other rapids of course, not so
terrible perhaps, as the Chaudiére, but making up in num-
ber what they lacked in difficulty and danger. Notable
among them was the Chute des Chats, called either because
of the catamounts which swarmed in the neighborhood,
or because of the cat-like look of the falls as it leaped down
the hillside spitting in its anger. Further on was the Calu-
met, around which a legend grew up, after the times of de
Brébeuf.

Cadieux, a clever Frenchman had settled there, and
gathered around him a number of Indians whose admira-
tion and affection he had won by his marvellous skill in
many arts, which he made use of to better the condition
of his savage friends. He had married a squaw, and made
her a pious Catholic, but the Troquois had discovered this
Indian Arcadia, and were bent on destroying it. Cadieux
was aware of it and one day when an attack was expected,
he sent his wife down the rapids with some trusty friends to
insure her safety. The story goes that the luminous figure
of la bonne Ste. Anne went before her canoe, guiding it
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safely through the wild rush of the water, and leading her
finally to the homes of the French. Cadieux and a single
warrior remained to defend their lodge. By shifting from
tree to tree, and with every shot bringing down an enemy,
they made the Iroquois believe that a great number of
warriors were concealed there, until the assailants finally
lost heart and fled. DBut Cadieux's man was slain and he
himself was wounded, and soon sickened and died.  His
name, however, still lingers around the Calumet, and for
many a vear afterwards the trappers stopped there to pray,
and cut a cross on the trees in memory of their visit, and
perhaps to give a lasting value to their prayers. There is
a marble monument now above the falls. On it is the in-
scription: * A la mémoire de Cadieux.” There is no date,
but it was erected in 1891,

There were thirty-five or forty such falls, around which
long portages of the hoats and baggage had to be made,
the missionary bearing his burden like the rest. \When
not struggling over rocks or sinking in morasses, or drag-
ging his canoe through the shallows, he was all day long
plying his paddle against the headlong current of the river.
Indeed, similar portages, though not accompanied with such
hardship have to be made even in our own times, and in
some parts of those regions the country is as wild as when
the savage skulked in the surrounding forests. They finally
reached the Isle des Allumettes, or Isle du Borgne, from the
old one-eyed chief who held sway there. It was the
stronghold of the Algonquins, and nature had fortified it
by placing formidable rapids at hoth ends of the island.
[t commanded the river, and no one could pass up or down
without permission of the chief. Long after de Brébeuf
had seen old Le Borgne, Ragueneau tried to go down to
Quebec with the remnants of the Hurons. THe was in a
hurry, no doubt, and omitted to pay his respects to the
authorities, says Tailhan, but he had to atone for his temer-
ity by being hanged to a tree by the armpits till he agreed
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to the terms of the chief. No doubt Ragueneau, when
he was there, saw the great cross of white cedar which
Champlain had erected on the island with the arms of the
King of I'rance cut upon it, but that devout explorer had
planted many another along the banks of the great river.
To-day on the other side of the Ottawa stands the City
of Pembroke, with its cathedral dedicated to St. Columba.
On the north branch of the river is St. Patrick’s. There
is not a single Indian on the island at the present time.

Leaving the domain of the Borgne, the tired wayfarers
still followed the Ottawa westward, which there takes the
name of the Hollow River, for it is like the Saguenay in
that part of its course, and flows in a deep gorge between
grim and towering palisades of rock. They then embarked
on the Mattawa, at the place where the Ottawa comes down
from Lake Temiscaming, and a short portage after some
miles led them on to the gloomy Lake Nippissing, shrouded
in its dark pine forests where all day and all night the
inhabitants gave themselves to the black arts of the sor-
cerer, though its evil reputation, it is said, was unmerited.
To-day the miner has supplemented the sorcerer, and Nip-
pising Cobalt stock is quoted in all the markets of the
world,

From the Lake they launched out on the French River
which is north of the famous Muskoka region, now the
resort of summer pleasure seekers; and out of the French
River which at its mouth is a net work of sharp rocks
protruding above the water they sailed into the vast waters
of Georgian Bay, which is the eastern arm of Lake Hare-
zondi,—a name that philologists are at odds about, Cham-
slain called it La Mer Douce, and subsequently it appeared
on some maps as Lac d'Orleans, but its familiar name is
Lake Huron; and properly so, for it was on its shores that
the Huron Indians dwelt. De Brébeuf regarded it as the
Promised Land, but, as with the Hebrews of old, it was not
to be possessed witho